
This Agenda is posted pursuant to Chapter 551, Texas Government Code 
 

Matters to Come Before a Meeting of the Board of Directors  
of Tarrant Regional Water District 

 
To Be Held the 14th Day of November 2023 at 9:00 a.m. 

Front Doors to the Main Admin Building at 800 East Northside Drive Will Open to 
the Public at 8:30am and Close Fifteen (15) Minutes After the Meeting Adjourns 

 
TRWD Board Room 

800 East Northside Drive 
Fort Worth, Texas 76102 

 
PLEASE BE ADVISED THAT A QUORUM OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF TRWD 
WILL CONVENE ON THE ABOVE DATE AND TIME FOR THE PURPOSE OF 
CONSIDERING AND ACTING UPON THE MATTERS SET FORTH IN THIS AGENDA.  
THE LINK TO VIEW AND LISTEN TO THE MEETING VIA INTERNET IS 
HTTPS://WWW.TRWD.COM/BOARDVIDEOS.  A RECORDING OF THE MEETING 
WILL ALSO BE AVAILABLE AT HTTPS://WWW.TRWD.COM/BOARDVIDEOS. 

              
 

1. Pledges of Allegiance 
 

2. Public Comment  
 

Citizens may present public comment at this time, limited to a total time of 
three (3) minutes per speaker, unless the speaker addresses the Board 
through a translator, in which case the limit is a total time of six (6) minutes. 
Each proposed speaker must have completed and submitted a speaker card 
prior to the commencement of the meeting, identifying any agenda item 
number(s) and topic(s) the speaker wishes to address with the Board. By 
law, the Board may not deliberate, debate, or take action on public comment 
but may place the item on a future agenda. 

 

3. Consider Approval of the Minutes from the Meeting Held on October 17, 2023 
 

4. Consider Approval of a Memorandum of Understanding with City of Fort 
Worth for Green Space Partnership - Mick Maguire, Chief Administrative 
Officer 

 

5. Consider Approval of Contract with Robinson Taylor Industries to Furnish 
and Install Rooftop Exhaust Fans for Richland-Chambers Lake Pump Station 
- Darrell Beason, Chief Operations Officer 

 

6. Consider Approval of Consent to Assignment of Irrigation Contract with 
Cassco Development Company to Clearfork Association, Inc. - Zachary Huff, 
Water Resources Engineering Director 



7. Consider Changes and Additions to Board Governance and Board-Approved 
Policies - Stephen Tatum, General Counsel 

 

8. Staff Updates 
 

• Water Resources and Planning Update - Rachel Ickert, Chief Water 
Resources Officer 

• Presentation of Award, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Public Service 
Commendation Medal - Dan Buhman, General Manager 

 

9. Executive Session under Texas Government Code:  
 

Section 551.071 of the Texas Government Code, for Private Consultation 
with its Attorney about Pending or Contemplated Litigation or on a Matter in 
which the Duty of the Attorney to the Governmental Body under the Texas 
Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct of the State Bar of Texas Clearly 
Conflicts with this Chapter; and 
 

Section 551.072 of the Texas Government Code to Deliberate the Purchase, 
Exchange, Lease or Value of Real Property; and 
 

Section 551.074 of the Texas Government Code Regarding Personnel 
Matters and General Manager Annual Evaluation 

 

10. Discuss and Consider Approval of General Manager Compensation Package 
for the Remainder of 2023 and 2024 - Kathryn Long, Partner, Thompson & 
Horton, LLC and Stephen Tatum, General Counsel 

 

11. Consider Approval of Authorization to Acquire Real Property by Purchase 
for the Cedar Creek Wetland Project - Steve Christian, Real Property Director 

 

Fee simple title, including any improvements located thereon, of a 284.0583-
acre tract of land located in the Nathaniel Smith Survey, Abstract No. 486, in 
the John L. Robertson Survey, Abstract No. 645, in the Daniel C. Rogers 
Survey, Abstract No. 428, and in the J.A. Pfeifer Survey, Abstract No. 664, 
Kaufman County, Texas; a 40.0902-acre tract of land located in the A.G. 
Melton Survey, Abstract No. 496, in the John L. Robertson Survey, Abstract 
No. 678, and in the John L. Robertson Survey, Abstract No. 645, Henderson 
County and Kaufman County, Texas; and a 22.3535-acre tract of land located 
in the Nathaniel Smith Survey, Abstract No. 486, and in the Martha J. Love 
Survey, Abstract No. 295, Kaufman County, Texas 

 

12. Future Agenda Items 
 

13. Schedule Next Board Meeting 
 

14. Adjourn 



MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 
TARRANT REGIONAL WATER DISTRICT 

HELD ON THE 17th DAY OF OCTOBER 2023 AT 9:00 A.M. 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

The call of the roll disclosed the presence of the Directors as follows:  
  

Present 
Leah King 
James Hill 

Mary Kelleher 
C.B. Team 

Paxton Motheral 
 

 Also present were Dan Buhman, Alan Thomas, Airin Barnett, Darrell Beason, 

Frank Beaty, Lisa Cabrera, Linda Christie, Tyler DeMelo-Cevallos, Jeff Fruhwirth, William 

Fruhwirth, Ellie Garcia, Zach Hatton, Natasha Hill, Zach Huff, Rachel Ickert, Jennifer 

Mitchell, Stephen Tatum and Ed Weaver of the Tarrant Regional Water District (District 

or TRWD). 

1. 

 All present were given the opportunity to join in reciting the Pledges of Allegiance 

to the U.S. and Texas flags.  

2. 

Public comment was received from Lon Burnam, who spoke regarding accuracy 

of the minutes and public discussion of consent agenda items. Daniel J. Bennett signed 

up to comment on water conservation but did not speak during public comment. 

3. 

Director Team moved to approve the minutes from the meeting held on September 

13, 2023. Director Motheral seconded the motion, and the votes were 5 in favor, 0 against. 

Director Kelleher reviewed the public comments received at the September 19, 2023 



meeting, and Director Team confirmed all public comments were included in the minutes. 

Director Hill moved to approve the minutes as presented from the meeting held on 

September 19, 2023. Director Team seconded the motion, and the votes were 5 in favor, 

0 against. It was accordingly ordered that these minutes be placed in the permanent files 

of the District. 

4. 

With the recommendation of management, Director Motheral moved to approve 

the consent agenda which includes maintenance, operations and human resources 

expenditures. Consent agenda items are detailed in the attached spreadsheet. Funding 

for these items is included in the Fiscal Year 2024 General and Revenue Fund Budgets. 

Director Hill seconded the motion, and the votes were 5 in favor, 0 against. 

  



Project Vendor Amount Purpose

1 Replacement Inventory Pipe 
Segments for Richland-
Chambers and Cedar Creek 
Pipelines

Thompson Pipe $818,072 This purchase is for 18 segments of 72” E-301 
prestressed concrete cylinder pipe. The 72” E301 
segments will be used on the Cedar Creek pipeline.  
8 segments will be placed in inventory for 
unplanned repairs. The remaining 10 segments will 
replace damaged segments on the 72” Cedar 
Creek Pipeline during fiscal year 2025. The 
targeted segments have been identified through the 
District’s Pipeline Integrity Program. The lead time 
for pipe delivery necessitates budgeting and 
purchasing in fiscal year 2024. The damaged 
segments are located between the Ennis booster 
pump station and the Cedar Creek lake station. 

Revenue $1,250,000

2 Solid Waste Management 
Services

Republic Services not-to-exceed 
$131,500

This contract includes rental and service of 
dumpsters in different locations throughout the 
District. Each unit is to be serviced as needed and 
billed on a monthly cycle. The contract would 
commence on November 1, 2023, and terminate on 
September 30, 2024.

General, 
Revenue

General:    
$84,500     

Revenue:     
$47,000

3 Long-Term Disability Insurance 
Coverage

American United Life 
Insurance 

(OneAmerica)

rate of $0.275 per 
$100 per month

In support of employee attraction, recruitment, and 
retention, the District strives to provide a 
competitive offering of employee benefits.  Long-
term disability insurance coverage provides 60% of 
base monthly earnings to an eligible employee in 
the event of a life-altering medical diagnosis that 
deems the employee unable to perform their District 
job duties. The proposed rate is $0.275 per $100 
per month. The annual cost to the District fluctuates 
as the number of employees and coverage volume 
fluctuates throughout the year. The District’s 
estimated annual cost based on current coverage 
volume is $77,519.

General, 
Revenue

$100,327

Approximate Total $1,027,091 Total $1,481,827

Budget

Tarrant Regional Water District
October 17, 2023 Board of Directors Meeting
Consent Agenda



5. 

With the recommendation of management, Director Team moved to approve a 

purchase in the amount of $200,000 from Xylem Water Solutions USA, Inc. for one (1) 

Flygt submersible pump for the George Shannon wetland relift pump station in order to 

maintain the highest level of redundancy and reliability of this station. Funding for this 

item is included in the Fiscal Year 2024 Revenue Fund. Director Hill seconded the motion, 

and the votes were 5 in favor, 0 against. 

6. 

With the recommendation of management, Director Team moved to approve a task 

order contract in an amount not-to-exceed $879,703 with Alliance Geotechnical Group to 

provide construction materials inspection and testing services for the IPL Lake Palestine 

Pump Station - Package 1 - Substructure and Intake Channel Project. This task order 

contract also includes a special services contingency to be released only at the Program 

Manager’s discretion. In addition, the General Manager or his designee is authorized to 

execute all documents associated with the contract. Funding for this item is included in 

the Dallas Bond Fund. Director Kelleher seconded the motion, and the votes were 5 in 

favor, 0 against.  

7. 

With the recommendation of management, Director Kelleher moved to approve a 

contract in an amount not-to-exceed $370,000 with Oncor Electric Delivery Company for 

installation of three phase 480 volt electric service for the Lake Palestine Pump Station 

construction. In addition, the General Manager or his designee is authorized to execute 

all documents associated with the contract. Funding for this item is included in the Dallas 

Bond Fund. Director Team seconded the motion, and the votes were 5 in favor, 0 against.  



8. 

With the recommendation of management, Director Hill moved to approve a 

resolution authorizing the issuance, sale, and delivery of the Tarrant Regional Water 

District, a Water Control and Improvement District, Water Revenue ECP Series A 

Refunding Bonds, pledging revenues for the payment of the bonds, approving an official 

statement, and authorizing other instruments and procedures relating thereto. Director 

Kelleher seconded the motion, and the votes were 5 in favor, 0 against. 

9. 

With the recommendation of the management, Director Hill moved to approve a 

resolution authorizing the issuance of Tarrant Regional Water District, a Water Control 

and Improvement District, Unlimited Tax Refunding Bonds; Levying an Ad Valorem Tax 

in support of the Bonds; establishing the procedures of selling and delivering the bonds; 

and authorizing other matters related to the issuance of the bonds. Director Kelleher 

seconded the motion, and the votes were 5 in favor, 0 against. 

10. 

• General Manager Update presented by Dan Buhman, General Manager 

• Water Resources Update presented by Rachel Ickert, Chief Water Resources 

Officer  

• Flood Planning Update presented by Rachel Ickert, Chief Water Resources 

Officer 

• Recognition of Service presented by Darrell Beason, Chief Operations Officer 

 

The Board of Directors recessed for a break from 10:22 a.m. to 10:28 a.m. 

 

 



11. 

The Board next held an Executive Session commencing at 10:28 a.m. under 

Section 551.071 of the Texas Government Code to Consult with Legal Counsel on a 

Matter in Which the Duty of Counsel Under the Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional 

Conduct Clearly Conflicts with Chapter 551, Texas Government Code; and Section 

551.074 of the Texas Government Code Regarding Personnel Matters. 

Upon completion of the executive session at 11:24 a.m., the President reopened 

the meeting.  

12. 

There were no future agenda items approved.  

13. 

The next board meeting was scheduled for November 14, 2023, at 9:00 a.m. 

14. 

There being no further business before the Board of Directors, the meeting was 

adjourned. 

 

                                   
President      Secretary 



TARRANT REGIONAL WATER DISTRICT 
 

AGENDA ITEM 4 
 
DATE: November 14, 2023 
 
SUBJECT: Consider Approval of a Memorandum of Understanding with City of 

Fort Worth to Create a Green Space Partnership 
 
FUNDING: N/A 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Management recommends approval of a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 
between the District and City of Fort Worth to outline the cooperative efforts and 
responsibilities to preserve, improve, and create green space.  
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
Green Space is vital to the sustainability of communities by protecting water quality, 
enhancing flood protection, and promoting physical/mental health through recreation and 
opportunities to connect with the natural environment. The District has a long-standing 
tradition of protecting open green and blue space along the Trinity River and the Trinity 
Trails for the wellbeing and sustainability of the community. This initiative creates an 
opportunity to strengthen the District’s partnership with the City of Fort Worth to preserve 
green space across the community and protect our valuable natural resources. 
Responsibilities under this Memorandum include: 
 

1. Together exploring the creation of a private non-profit conservancy that could 
become the third partner in the acquisition, creation, and care of Green Space; 

2. Collaborating to implement mutually beneficial efforts, strategies, and goals 
approved by the City’s and District’s respective governing bodies; 

3. Issuing an annual Green Space report outlining collaborative activities and 
progress toward established goals; and 

4. Holding at least one joint meeting of the respective governing bodies per year to 
discuss common challenges and opportunities. 

 
This item was reviewed by the Recreation Committee on November 8, 2023, and the Real 
Estate Committee on November 9, 2023. 
 
Submitted By: 
 
Mick Maguire 
Chief Administrative Officer 



 

        

 

City of Fort Worth – Tarrant Regional Water District 

Green Space Partnership 

Memorandum of Understanding 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Fort Worth (City) adopted the Council/Manager form of government in 1924, 

operates under a home-rule charter, and is currently governed by an 11-member City Council composed 

of a Mayor elected at-large and ten Councilmembers elected by districts;  

WHEREAS, the City is the fastest growing large city in the United States and is currently home to an 

estimated population approaching one million, encompasses approximately 350 square miles with 

significant undeveloped lands, expands into five different Texas counties, and operates nearly 300 parks 

or recreational areas that encompass more than 12,000 acres; 

WHEREAS, the Tarrant Regional Water District (District) is a water control and improvement district 

created in 1924 and led by a publicly elected five-member board, which owns and operates four major 

reservoirs, including Lake Bridgeport, Eagle Mountain Lake, Cedar Creek Reservoir and Richland-Chambers 

Reservoir; 

WHEREAS, the District supplies raw water to more than 2.2 million people, while also providing flood 

control and recreational opportunities for North Texans;  

WHEREAS, for purposes of this partnership and Memorandum of Understanding (MOU), the term “Green 

Space” is defined as a range of natural environments including, but not limited to, small parks, the urban 

forest, landscaped medians and parkways, outdoor sports/recreation facilities, trail systems, large 

developed parks, expansive natural reserves, floodplain, riparian areas, and passive open space; 

WHERAS, Green Space is vital to the sustainability of communities by protecting water quality, enhancing 

flood protection, and promoting physical/mental health through recreation and opportunities to connect 

with the natural environment; and 

WHEREAS, through this partnership, the City and District seek to partner in pursuing their mutual interests 

in acquiring, creating, and caring for Green Space within the corporate boundaries and extraterritorial 

jurisdiction of the City. 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the City and District hereby agree to this non-binding MOU,  which 

represents a commitment and on-going relationship among well-meaning and mutually interested parties 

to work together to uphold the values of cooperation and civic responsibility by: 

 

 



 

Page Two 

City of Fort Worth – Tarrant Regional Water District 

Green Space Partnership 

Memorandum of Understanding 

 

1. Together exploring the creation of a private non-profit conservancy that could become the third 

partner in the acquisition, creation, and care of Green Space; 

2. Collaborating to implement mutually beneficial efforts, strategies, and goals approved by the 

City’s and District’s respective governing bodies; 

3. Issuing an annual Green Space report outlining collaborative activities and progress toward 

established goals; and 

4. Holding at least one joint meeting of the respective governing bodies per year to discuss 

common challenges and opportunities. 

 

For the City of Fort Worth:    For the Tarrant Regional Water District: 

 

 

 

________________________________   _________________________________ 

Mattie Parker      Leah M. King 

Mayor       Board President 

 

 

 

________________________________   _________________________________ 

David Cooke      Dan Buhman 

City Manager      General Manager 

 

 

Date: __________________________   Date:  ____________________________ 



TARRANT REGIONAL WATER DISTRICT 
 

AGENDA ITEM 5 
  
DATE:  November 14, 2023 
 
SUBJECT:  Consider Approval of Contract with Robinson Taylor Industries to 

Furnish and Install Rooftop Exhaust Fans for Richland-Chambers 
Lake Pump Station 

 
FUNDING: Fiscal Year 2024 Revenue Fund Budget - $110,000 
  
RECOMMENDATION:     
 
Management recommends approval of a contract in an amount not-to-exceed 
$75,185.50 with Robinson Taylor Industries (RTI) to furnish and install three rooftop 
exhaust fans. 
 
DISCUSSION:  
 
The Richland-Chambers Lake Pump Station utilizes four rooftop exhaust fans to expel 
heat from the machinery and transformers. Three of the units are 15 years old and have 
reached the end of their useful life. The expected useful life is 15 years. The remaining 
unit was replaced 11 years ago and is currently in very good condition. RTI will furnish 
and provide all equipment and labor to physically install the units. District electricians will 
energize. 
 
Invitation to Bid was solicited per statute (Texas Water Code Chapter 49) and of the 9 
vendors solicited, 1 bid was received. Robinson Taylor Industries is a prime, non-certified 
business that has met the good faith effort requirement of the Diverse Business 
Policy.  The anticipated diverse business participation is 0%. 
 
This item was reviewed by the Construction and Operations Committee on November 10, 
2023. 
 
Submitted By: 
 
Darrell Beason 
Chief Operations Officer 
 
 



kelly03
Snapshot



TARRANT REGIONAL WATER DISTRICT 

AGENDA ITEM 6 

DATE:  November 14, 2023  
 
SUBJECT: Consider Approval of Consent to Assignment of Irrigation Contract 

with Cassco Development Company to Clearfork Association, Inc. 
 
FUNDING: N/A 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Management recommends approval of Consent to Assignment of an existing irrigation 
contract between the District and Cassco Development Company to Clearfork 
Association, Inc. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
Cassco Development Company is an existing District Irrigation customer with a diversion 
point on the Clear Fork of the Trinity River downstream of Lake Benbrook. The original 
irrigation contract between Cassco Development Company and the District was executed 
on November 10, 2014 (2014 Irrigation Contract). 

On August 2, 2023, the District was notified of Cassco Development Company’s intent to 
assign the 2004 Irrigation Contract to Clearfork Association, Inc. Clearfork Association, 
Inc., will assume all obligations and liabilities of Cassco Development Company under 
the 2014 Irrigation Contract. All contract terms remain unchanged. 

This item was reviewed by the Real Estate Committee on November 9, 2023. 
 
Submitted By: 
 
Zachary Huff 
Water Resources Engineering Director 



 

 

Consent to Assignment 

This Consent to Assignment ("this Consent"), is entered into by Tarrant Regional Water District ('TRWD"), Cassco 

Development Company and Clearfork Association, Inc as follows: 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, TRWD and Cassco Development Company have entered into an Irrigation Contract dated as of November 10, 

2014 (a copy of which contract is attached hereto as Exhibit A, and herein referred to collectively as the "Water 

Contract"). 

WHEREAS, Cassco Development Company desires to assign the Water Contract to Clearfork Association, Inc, by the 

execution and delivery of an assignment ("Assignment"), whereby Cassco Development Company will assign all of its 

right, title and interest in the Water Contract to Clearfork Association, Inc, and Clearfork Association, Inc will assume all 

obligations and liabilities of Cassco Development Company thereunder; 

WHEREAS, in accordance with Section 27 of the Water Contract, Cassco Development Company and Clearfork 

Association, Inc are requesting that TRWD consent to the Assignment; and 

WHEREAS, TRWD is willing to consent to the Assignment. 

NOW, THEREFORE, TRWD hereby consents to the Assignment and to the substitution of Clearfork Association, Inc for 

Cassco Development Company as the "Purchaser" under the Water Contract subject to the following conditions. 

Clearfork Association, Inc, as the successor and assignee of Cassco Development Company, hereby accepts all rights, 

authority, obligations, and benefits under the Water Contract, whether occurring prior to or after said transfer or 

assignment, and shall abide by all terms and conditions of the Water Contract.  It is agreed that the assignment shall in 

no way relieve Cassco Development Company from any obligations it incurs pursuant to the terms of the Water Contract 

prior to the date of said transfer or assignment. 

This Agreement is effective as of the date of Lessor's execution. Accepted and agreed to: 

Tarrant Regional Water District     Clearfork Association, Inc 

By: ________________________    By: ________________________ 

 Dan Buhman       Crawford H. Edwards 

General Manager      President, Clearfork Association, Inc.  
     

Date: ______________________    Date: ______________________ 



TARRANT REGIONAL WATER DISTRICT 
 

AGENDA ITEM 7 
 
DATE: November 14, 2023 
 
SUBJECT: Consider Changes and Additions to Board Governance and Board-

Approved Policies 
 
FUNDING: N/A 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Management recommends the Board vote to place policy changes and additions on the 
TRWD website for a 30-day public comment period and also on the December 2023 
board meeting agenda for review and final approval. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
Management presents for Board consideration the following changes to District policy: (1) 
amending current District policy on purchasing and procurement to incorporate recent 
changes to state law, (2) adding a new Board Governance policy related to Board 
Compensation to incorporate recent changes to state law, and (3) adding a new Board-
Approved policy for naming District-owned facilities in response to a Board request. 
 
All legislation referenced below passed during the 88th Texas Legislative session (2023). 
 
Amendments to Existing Board-Approved Policy 201 – Purchasing and 
Procurement 
 
Section 49.273(d) of the Texas Water Code requires the board to advertise the letting of 
construction, repair, and renovation contracts of $75,000 or more. HB 3507 increased 
that statutory amount from $75,000 to $150,000. Section 49.273(i) authorizes the board 
to delegate the authority to approve change orders that involve an increase or decrease 
of $50,000 or less for construction, repair, renovation contracts. HB 3437 increased that 
threshold increase/decrease amount from $50,000 or less to $150,000 or less. 
 
To incorporate these statutory changes into current Board-Approved policy 201 
(Purchasing and Procurement), section 201.5 will be updated to align the contract 
approval threshold amount with the statutory amounts. Corresponding changes will also 
be made to several policy provisions that delegate approval authority for certain contracts 
to the General Manager. 
 
In addition, management proposes adding a new provision to policy 201 that delegates 
to the General Manager the authority to sell any District-owned personal property valued 
at $300 or more that has been found to be surplus. Texas Water Code section 49.226 



provides that any personal property valued at more than $300 owned by the District which 
is found by the board to be surplus and is not needed by the District may be sold under 
order of the board either by public or private sale or may be exchanged for other personal 
property needed by the District. But currently no District policy addresses the designation 
of surplus property. Management recommends adding a section to do so in the manner 
of section 49.226. 
 
New Board Governance Policy 3.13 – Board Compensation 
 
HB 2815 amended section 49.060 of the Texas Water Code to direct the board to set by 
resolution the fees of office for its board members, and capping those fees at the amount 
of per diem set by the Texas Ethics Commission for members of the Texas Legislature. 
Proposed New Board Governance Policy 3.13 will be added to incorporate this statutory 
change. 
 
New Board-Approved Policy 107 – District-owned facility naming policy and 
process 
 
Lastly, in response to a Board member request, management proposes a new Board 
Governance Policy to establish criteria and processes for naming District-Owned 
facilities. 
 
After Board discussion, these policies will be placed on the TRWD website for public 
comment, then presented to the Board for further discussion and/or approval at the 
December 2023 regular Board meeting. 
 
This item was reviewed by the Administration and Policy Committee on November 7, 
2023. 
 
Submitted By: 
 
Stephen Tatum 
General Counsel 
 



Adopted XX/XX/2023 
Effective XX/XX/2023 

  

 

201.0  PURCHASING AND PROCUREMENT POLICY 

TRWD is committed to obtaining quality goods and services at a reasonable cost by 
generating competition whenever possible, when allowed or required by law. TRWD 
should adhere to the highest ethical values in the purchase and receipt of, and payment 
for, goods and services to support TRWD’s business. TRWD shall comply fully with all 
state and federal purchasing laws, rules, and regulations.  

201.1  Purpose. The purpose of this Policy is to establish authority for the 
purchasing function within TRWD and provide a framework that promotes and facilitates 
an efficient purchasing function for TRWD’s acquisition of goods and services that 
complies with all applicable state and federal purchasing laws. 

201.2  Scope. This Purchasing Policy applies to all TRWD employees and officials 
involved in the purchasing process. This Policy applies to TRWD’s purchase of goods or 
services made with funds approved by the Board.  

201.3  Definitions. The following definitions apply to this Purchasing Policy: 

Bidder - A company that submits a bid in response to a solicitation for goods or 
services. 

Change Order – A document used in construction contracts to change the contract 
by modifying the plans, specifications, or scope of work after the performance of the 
contract has begun and potentially increasing or decreasing the contract amount. Change 
Orders may also be used to decrease or increase the quantity of the work to be performed 
or of the materials, equipment, or supplies to be furnished under a contract. 

Confidential/Proprietary Information - Information provided in response to a 
request for a bid, proposal, or qualification by a bidder (a vendor, contractor, potential 
vendor, or potential contractor) to which the bidder claims ownership or exclusive rights 
and which is protected from disclosure under the Texas Public Information Act, Texas 
Government Code § 552.1101. 

Contract - A formal, written agreement executed by an authorized TRWD 
employee containing the terms and conditions under which goods or services are 
furnished to TRWD. 

Goods - Any personal property purchased by TRWD, including equipment, 
supplies, material, and component or repair parts. 

Offeror - A company that submits a proposal in response to a TRWD purchasing 
or procurement request.  



Adopted XX/XX/2023 
Effective XX/XX/2023 

  

 

Services – The furnishing of labor and any ancillary materials by a vendor that 
does not include the delivery of a tangible end product and includes all work or labor 
performed for TRWD on a contractual basis including maintenance, construction, manual, 
clerical, personal, or professional services. 

Specifications - A concise description of the goods or services that TRWD seeks 
to procure and the requirements the vendor must meet to be considered for award. The 
specification is the total description of the item or services to be purchased. 

Vendor – A supplier of goods or services to TRWD. 

201.4  General Purchasing and Procurement Authority. The General Manager 
has designated the Purchasing Department as the purchasing and procurement authority 
for TRWD. The General Manager has designated the Purchasing Manager to determine 
the purchase or procurement method that provides the best value for TRWD that is 
consistent with this Policy and complies with the laws applicable to the District. 

201.5  Contracting and Signature Authority. Unless contracting authority is 
otherwise delegated by the Board, all contracts that have a value of $ 75,000 $150,000 
or greater must be approved by the Board. Change orders to existing contracts that would 
increase or decrease the contract by more than $50,000 $150,000 must be approved by 
the Board. Subject to the Procurement Requirements set forth in 201.9.6, the Board 
delegates to the TRWD staff-member responsible for administering a construction 
contract the authority to approve a change order that involves an increase or decrease of 
$50,000 $150,000 or less, as allowed by Texas Water Code § 49.273(i). 

Except for documents required by law to have the Board President’s signature, the Board 
delegates to the General Manager signature authority for all TRWD contracts. The 
General Manager may establish designees to sign contracts at specific amounts in a 
written Delegation of Signature Authority memorandum that is presented to the Board.  

201.5.1 Renewal of Hardware/Software Maintenance and Support 
Agreements. The Board delegates authority to the General Manager or designee to 
approve renewal of annual hardware/software maintenance and support agreements. 
The General Manager or designee shall notify the Administration and Policy Committee 
regarding approval of any agreement for renewal of hardware/software maintenance and 
support over $75,000 $150,000. 

201.5.2 Original Equipment Manufacturer (OEM) Repairs and 
Maintenance. The Board delegates authority to the General Manager or designee to 
approve contracts for pump station maintenance and large equipment repairs of $75,000 
or more using original equipment manufacturers or their authorized dealers. The General 
Manager or designee shall notify the Construction and Operations Committee regarding 
approval of any OEM items over $75,000 $150,000. 



Adopted XX/XX/2023 
Effective XX/XX/2023 

  

 

201.5.3 Public Relations and Advocacy Contracts. The Board delegates 
authority to the General Manager or designee to approve the renewal of public relations 
and governmental advocacy contracts that will, or are likely to, exceed $75,000 $150,000 
in a given fiscal year, provided that the General Manager or designee shall notify the 
Administration and Policy Committee regarding the approval of any such contract 
renewals. This delegation of authority also applies to renewals of contracts that may not 
exceed $75,000 $150,000 in a given fiscal year but will, over the life of the contract, 
exceed $75,000 $150,000. 

201.5.4 Insurance Contracts. In accordance with delegation to the General 
Manager of ultimate authority to determine compensation and benefits for TRWD 
employees in Board Governance Policy 4.3, the Board delegates authority to the General 
Manager or designee to approve the renewal of administrative, personnel-related 
insurance and benefit agreements, provided that the General Manager or designee shall 
notify the Administration and Policy Committee of any renewals of contracts over $75,000 
$150,000.  

201.6  Development of Purchasing Procedures. The General Manager or 
designee shall establish and implement administrative procedures or guidelines 
consistent with this Policy to guide TRWD in its purchasing function. The administrative 
procedures should include:  

• A more detailed discussion of permissible competitive procurement 
methods TRWD may use;  

• Specific state procurement requirements;  

• Requirements for TRWD contracts and change orders to contracts that 
comply with all applicable law and TRWD’s practice; and 

• Safeguards for the detection and prevention of fraud, waste, and abuse in 
TRWD’s purchasing process. 

The administrative procedures should ensure that TRWD’s purchasing and procurement 
processes are fair and equitable, foster competition, and result in the provision of quality 
goods and services to TRWD at a reasonable cost.  

201.7  Conduct of Purchasing Employees. TRWD employees assigned to the 
Purchasing Department and any other TRWD employees who are involved directly or 
indirectly in TRWD’s procurement and purchasing process must follow TRWD’s Board-
adopted Employee Code of Ethics and must: 

• Avoid activities that compromise or give the perception of compromising the 
best interests of TRWD; 



Adopted XX/XX/2023 
Effective XX/XX/2023 

  

 

• Avoid the knowing use of confidential or proprietary information for actual 
or anticipated gain; 

• Maintain the confidentiality of the proprietary information of bidders and 
offerors, to the extent allowed by law; 

• Avoid any activity that would create a conflict between their personal 
interest and the interest of TRWD; 

• Avoid the appearance of unethical or compromising practices in 
relationships, actions, and communications associated with TRWD’s 
purchase or procurement of goods or services;  

• Avoid soliciting or accepting money, loans, gifts, favors, or anything of 
value, from present or potential vendors that might influence or give the 
perception of influencing a purchasing decision; and 

• Never purchase goods or services for or on behalf of TRWD that are for 
their own personal benefit. 

If any conflict or potential conflict of interest exists, the employee shall notify the 
Purchasing Manager in writing. If the Purchasing Manager finds that the employee has a 
conflict of interest, the employee will remove themselves from the purchasing or 
procurement process. 

201.8  Violations. A violation or unauthorized departure from this Policy or the 
administrative procedures created to effectuate this Policy may result in removal from 
TRWD’s purchasing process, disciplinary action up to and including termination as 
determined by the General Manager or designee, and possible criminal penalties. 

201.9  Procurement Requirements. The following reflects TRWD’s 
requirements for certain types of procurement. 

The following strategies that are employed with the intention of circumventing the formal 
competitive bidding process are prohibited: 

• Component Purchases – Purchasing a series of component parts or goods 
that, in normal purchasing practices, would be made in a single purchase.  

• Separate Purchases - Purchasing goods or services in a series of separate 
purchases that, in normal purchasing practices, would have been made in 
a single purchase. 

• Sequential Purchases – Purchases of items made over a period of time that, 
in normal purchasing practices, would be made in a single purchase. 



Adopted XX/XX/2023 
Effective XX/XX/2023 

  

 

201.9.1. Construction, Equipment, Materials, and Machinery Contracts. 
For purchases over $25,000 but less than $75,000 $150,000, TRWD shall solicit three 
formal bids on a uniform set of specifications as set forth in Texas Water Code 
§ 49.273(e). Responses to the solicitation are not required to be sealed. 

For purchases over $75,000 $150,000, TRWD shall solicit three formal bids on a uniform 
set of specifications. Responses to this solicitation must be sealed. TRWD shall advertise 
the solicitation in a newspaper with general circulation in TRWD’s geographical area once 
a week for two consecutive weeks before the bids are opened, and the first publication 
must be at least fourteen days prior to the date of the opening of the sealed bids as 
required by Texas Water Code § 49.273(d).  

201.9.2. Professional or Consulting Services. In accordance with Texas 
Government Code § 2254.003(a), TRWD may not select a provider of professional 
services on the basis of competitive bids but rather shall make its selection and award a 
contract on the basis of demonstrated competence and qualifications to perform the 
services and for a fair and reasonable price. Under Texas Government Code 
§ 2254.002(2)(A), Professional Services include accounting, architecture, landscape 
architecture, land surveying, medicine, optometry, professional engineering, real estate 
appraising, professional nursing, and forensic science. 

In accordance with 30 Texas Administrative Code § 292.13(4), TRWD shall maintain a 
list of at least three qualified persons or firms for each area of professional service used 
by the District. The pre-qualified persons or firms shall be sent a request for proposal for 
any contract award for a new project which is expected to exceed $25,000. 

In selecting attorneys, engineers, auditors, financial advisors, or other professional 
consultants, TRWD shall follow the procedures provided in the Professional Services 
Procurement Act, Texas Government Code Chapter 2254, Subchapter A, as required by 
Texas Water Code § 49.057(d). 

TRWD shall select consultants, who study or advise TRWD under a contract but do not 
have a traditional employer-employee relationship with TRWD, based on demonstrated 
competence, knowledge, and qualifications and on the reasonableness of the proposed 
fee for the services.  

201.9.3 High-Technology Procurement. TRWD shall procure equipment, 
goods, or services of a highly technical nature, as defined by Texas Local Government 
Code § 252.001(4), of more than $50,000 by using appropriate local government 
cooperative purchasing programs, a request for proposal, or competitive sealed bidding. 

201.9.4 Reverse Auction Procedure. TRWD may use the reverse auction 
procedure, as defined by Texas Government Code § 2155.062(d). 



Adopted XX/XX/2023 
Effective XX/XX/2023 

  

 

201.9.5. Fuel Purchases. Fuel purchases will be procured based on the 
dollar limit thresholds listed in Section 201.9.1. The purchase requisition for fuel 
purchases should include, at a minimum: the type of fuel needed; the amount needed to 
include the unit of measure; the location of fuel delivery; and the required delivery date.  

201.9.6 Change Order Limitations. Change orders are not subject to the 
requirements of 201.9.1. In accordance with Texas Water Code § 49.273(i), change 
orders, in the aggregate, may not increase the original contract price by more than twenty-
five (25) percent. The aggregate of change orders that increase the original contract price 
by more than twenty-five (25) percent may be issued only as a result of unanticipated 
conditions encountered during construction, repair, renovation, or changes in regulatory 
criteria or to facilitate project coordination with other political.  

201.9.7 Surplus Property. Any personal property valued at up to $10,000 
owned by the District, which is found by the General Manager or designee to be surplus 
and is not needed by the District, may be sold under order of the General Manager or 
designee either by public or private sale or may be exchanged for other personal property 
needed by the District.  Personal property must be exchanged for like fair market value, 
which value may be determined by the District.  The General Manager or designee shall 
notify the Finance Committee regarding surplus designation and sale.  

201.10. Restriction of Communication. Once a formal procurement process has 
begun, all communication with bidders or potential bidders regarding the competitive 
solicitation must be made by and through the Purchasing Department. Any and all other 
communication between a bidder/offeror and TRWD staff concerning the competitive 
solicitation is strictly prohibited. Failure to comply with this requirement may result in 
TRWD disqualifying the bidder’s/offeror’s submittal. 

This restriction on communication applies only to communications regarding the 
competitive solicitation and does not prohibit a bidder or potential bidder from 
communicating with the Board or TRWD staff regarding ongoing business with TRWD or 
contracts previously executed with TRWD. 

201.11 Certificate of Interested Parties. Before TRWD enters into a contract 
that requires Board approval or has a value of at least $1,000,000, or is for services that 
would require a person to register as a lobbyist under Texas Government Code Chapter 
305, the business entity must submit a disclosure of interested parties (Form 1295) with 
the Texas Ethics Commission, as required by Texas Government Code § 2252.908. 

201.12 Cooperative Purchasing. TRWD may use local government cooperative 
purchasing programs created in accordance with state law to satisfy its competitive 
bidding requirements. All matters relating to or purchases made through a cooperative 
purchasing program should be handled by the Purchasing Department. 



Adopted XX/XX/2023 
Effective XX/XX/2023 

  

 

201.13 Exemptions to Competitive Purchasing. TRWD is not required to utilize 
competitive bidding in the following circumstances:  

• TRWD may contract with any person to provide laboratory or environment 
services related to the environment, health, or drinking water testing. 

• TRWD is not required to advertise or seek competitive bids for repairs and 
maintenance if the scope or extent of the repair work cannot be readily 
ascertained or if the nature of the repair work does not readily lend itself to 
competitive bidding. 

• TRWD is not required to advertise or seek competitive bids for security or 
surveillance systems or components of or additions to TRWD facilities 
relating to security or surveillance, including systems used for the 
prevention of terrorist or criminal acts and incidents or acts of war, if the 
Board finds that doing so would compromise the safety and security of 
TRWD facilities or residents. 

• TRWD is not required to advertise or seek competitive bids for the purchase 
of electricity for use by the District. 

• TRWD is not required to advertise or seek competitive bids for contracts for 
services related to compliance with a state or federal construction storm 
water requirement, including acquisition of permits, construction, repair, and 
removal of temporary erosion control devices, cleaning of silt and debris 
from streets and storm sewers, monitoring of construction sites, and 
preparation and filing of all required reports. 

• TRWD may purchase equipment, materials, or machinery at an auction that 
is open to the public. 

• If TRWD experiences an emergency condition that may create a serious 
health hazard or unreasonable economic loss to TRWD that requires 
immediate corrective action, TRWD may negotiate limited duration 
contracts to make the necessary repairs. TRWD shall comply with all 
requirements of Texas Water Code § 49.274 regarding such contracts. 

• If goods or services are available from only one source and unique to one 
vendor, to the best of TRWD’s belief based upon thorough research, TRWD 
may purchase such sole source goods or services without competitive 
bidding. 

201.14 Fair Opportunities and Diverse Businesses. TRWD is committed to 
promoting full and equal opportunity for all business to supply the goods and services 
needed to support the mission and operations of the District. TRWD encourages the 
participation and use of certified Diverse Businesses—businesses that are minority-



Adopted XX/XX/2023 
Effective XX/XX/2023 

  

 

owned, woman-owned, socially disadvantaged, economically disadvantaged, small, 
service-disabled, and/or historically underutilized businesses—in the District’s 
procurement processes through neutral means. The Purchasing Department will ensure 
that the Board-adopted Fair Opportunities Purchasing and Contracting Policy is followed 
in TRWD’s purchasing and procurement processes. 

201.15 Procurement Cards (P-Cards). TRWD may use Procurement Cards, or 
P-Cards, in certain circumstances to provide an expedient and efficient method of 
purchasing relatively small-dollar items. Procurement Cards should only be provided to 
identified TRWD staff as determined the General Manager or designee. The General 
Manager or designee shall establish a process for issuing P-Cards and tracking use of 
P-Cards. 

All purchasing with Procurement Cards shall be made in strict compliance with this 
Policy and any established administrative procedures governing the use of P-Cards. 
Procurement Cards shall not be used to circumvent TRWD’s purchasing and 
procurement process. Under no circumstance can the holder of a Procurement Card 
use the P-Card for a personal purchase or a single purchase that exceeds the 
cardholder’s purchasing authority set forth in TRWD procedures. 

TRWD shall establish administrative procedures for the responsible and lawful use of 
Procurement Cards. 

201.16 Electrical Energy Procurement. TRWD may purchase energy in 
regulated service areas, such as through rural electric cooperatives, and deregulated 
service areas, through a Retail Electric Provider (REP). TRWD shall procure energy 
consistent with the risk profile strategies identified by the General Manager or designee 
that have been presented to the Board.  

TRWD shall establish administrative procedures regarding energy procurement that 
address: 

• TRWD’s risk profile for purchasing power;  

• TRWD’s approach for procuring power in regulated service areas and 
deregulated service areas;  

• TRWD’s commitment to the use of renewable energy;  

• The approval of power purchases; 

• The process for amendments to contracts related to energy procurement 
with REPs,  

• Adding or replacing an REP; and  



Adopted XX/XX/2023 
Effective XX/XX/2023 

  

 

• Any delegated authority for energy procurement. 

Any energy procurement that extends the term of the contract shall require approval of 
the Construction and Operations Committee. Power purchases within the term of an 
existing contract will require the approval of the Construction and Operations Committee, 
except when the window of opportunity due to operational needs or market conditions 
requires rapid response. In this case, the General Manager or their designee may 
approve power purchases and notify the Construction and Operations Committee.  

A regular update regarding TRWD’s Energy Procurement will be provided to the Board. 
The General Manager or designee should maintain a document or memorandum 
regarding Delegated Authority for Energy Procurement. This memorandum, with any 
changes, should be provided to the Board with TRWD’s update regarding Energy 
Procurement.  



 

 
 

 

Board Governance Policies 



The following amends and supersedes the Tarrant Regional Water District Board 
Governance Policies adopted July 22, 2013 and amended on November 18, 2014 and 
September 17, 2019. These Board Governance Policies were adopted on October 19, 
2021 and were amended on March 21, 2023. 

  



1.0 LEGAL STATUS 

The Tarrant Regional Water District (“TRWD” or the “District”) is a water control and 
improvement district created under article XVI, section 59 of the Texas Constitution. 
TRWD is a political subdivision of the State of Texas. 

TRWD’s authority comes from the legislative act creating TRWD, Tex. Rev. Civ. Stat. 
Ann. art. 8280–207 as amended (the “Enabling Act”). Under the provisions of the 
Enabling Act and the Texas Water Code, all powers of TRWD shall be exercised by 
TRWD’s Board of Directors (the “Board”). 

  



2.0 MISSION AND OBJECTIVES  

2.1 Vision Statement. Enriching Communities, Improving the Quality of Life. 

2.2 Mission Statement. It is TRWD’s mission to:  

1. Deliver a reliable, resilient, and sustainable supply of water to the public at 
the lowest cost and highest quality possible; 

2. Reduce the risk of flooding in our communities with dependable flood 
damage reduction infrastructure and operations; and 

3. Enhance the quality of life in North Texas communities by creating 
recreation opportunities around TRWD infrastructure to enable active 
lifestyles. 

2.3 Tenets and Objectives. The strategic tenets of TRWD include resource 
stewardship, reliability, continuous improvement, a results-oriented approach, and care 
for the communities TRWD serves and its employees. 

The strategic objectives TRWD identifies to guide its work shall be set forth in a Strategic 
Plan prepared by the General Manager that is updated and presented regularly, and not 
less than once every five (5) years, to TRWD’s Board.  

  



3.0 THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

TRWD shall be governed by a board of five elected directors. 

3.1 Board Authority. The Board shall be responsible for the management of all the 
affairs of TRWD.  

The Board may only officially act or transact any business of TRWD by majority vote of 
the Directors present at a properly-noticed meeting that complies with the Texas Open 
Meetings Act, at which a quorum of the Board is present and voting.  

3.2 No Individual Director Authority. Individual Directors shall not exercise authority 
over TRWD, its property, or its employees. Unless expressly authorized by the Board, 
individual Directors may not act on behalf of the Board, may not speak on behalf of the 
Board, and may not commit the Board on an issue.  

No individual Director may waive or disclose any privilege, confidential information, or 
right available to the Board, including any privileges or confidentiality which may apply to 
litigation, to real property matters, to matters concerning the awarding of contracts, or 
purchasing of equipment or materials. 

3.3 Board Duties and Responsibilities. The Board will select and employ a person 
to serve as the General Manager for TRWD. The Board makes all decisions regarding 
the General Manager’s compensation and has the authority to remove the General 
Manager in the best interests of TRWD. The General Manager will report directly to the 
Board. 

The Board, in consultation with and with recommendations developed by the General 
Manager and executive team, will adopt the overall strategic plan and objectives of TRWD 
and review them on a regular basis. The Board shall also adopt policies it determines are 
in the best interest of TRWD for the operation of the District. 

Each year, the Board shall adopt an annual budget. 

The Board shall faithfully discharge its duties by conducting its affairs and management 
of TRWD in a highly ethical manner to serve the public trust and based on sound business 
judgment. Directors shall not discharge their duties or direct actions of TRWD for any 
purpose of private gain or to seek personal advantage. 

3.4 Delegation to the General Manager. The Board delegates to the General 
Manager the full authority to manage and operate TRWD’s affairs subject only to the 
orders or directives of the Board. This delegation of authority to the General Manager 
includes all general powers and duties in the Enabling Act, other applicable law, and 
Board policies necessary to accomplish TRWD’s mission, plans, and strategic objectives 



as approved by the Board, except for the powers and duties specifically reserved for the 
Board by the Enabling Act, state law, or other Board policies. 

The Board’s delegation of authority to the General Manager includes the authority to 
employ all persons necessary to properly conduct TRWD’s business and operations. The 
general powers, duties, and responsibilities of the General Manager are set forth in 
Section 4.0 of these Board Governance Policies.  

The strategic objectives TRWD identifies to guide its works shall be set forth in a Strategic 
Plan prepared by the General Manager and adopted by the Board that is updated and 
presented regularly to TRWD’s Board, and no less than once every five (5) years, to 
ensure TRWD is furthering its mission for the North Texas community.  

3.5 Elections. The election of Directors for TRWD’s Board is governed by Texas 
Water Code Chapter 49, subchapter D and the Texas Election Code. Elections will be 
held in May of each odd-numbered year to elect the appropriate number of Directors. 
Generally, members of the Board shall serve staggered four-year terms until their 
successors have been qualified. 

The Board shall convene at a regularly-scheduled, special, or called Board meeting no 
later than the eleventh day after the election day and not earlier than the time prescribed 
by the Election Code to conduct the local canvas. After the local canvas is conducted at 
the Board meeting, and before further Board action is taken, the elected candidates shall 
be administered the oath of office.  

Within thirty (30) days after qualification of Directors following an election, each elected 
Director shall certify in writing that he or she has read these Board Governance Policies 
and agrees to follow them in the discharge of his or her duties as a Director of TRWD’s 
Board. 

3.6 Election of Officers. At the first Board meeting after qualification of Directors 
following an election, the Board shall elect from its membership a President, Vice 
President, and Secretary and such other officers or assistant officers the Board deems 
necessary. In addition, the Board may call an election of officers as it deems necessary 
and appropriate based on a majority vote of the Board at a properly-noticed meeting at 
which a quorum of the Board is present and voting. 

The Vice President or Secretary shall serve as chairperson and shall preside over the 
Board meeting during the election of officers until such time as the President is elected. 

Nominations for officers may be taken from the floor at the Board meeting prior to the 
vote. After nominations have been closed, Board members shall cast their vote. When 
there is only one nominee for an office, the chair can declare that the nominee is elected, 
effecting the election by unanimous consent or acclamation. An election to an office shall 
become final immediately. 



Individual officer vacancies in the midst of a term may be filled by vote of the Board at the 
next regularly-scheduled Board meeting or at a special or called Board meeting. 

3.7 Duties of the President. The Board President is the chief executive officer of the 
District and shall execute all documents on behalf of TRWD unless the Board authorizes 
another Director, the General Manager, or other TRWD staff member to execute a 
document or documents on behalf of TRWD. The President shall generally be authorized 
to represent the District at official functions unless the Board authorizes another Director 
to serve as the District’s representative at a particular function. 

The President shall preside as the chairperson at all Board meetings. In the absence or 
unavailability of the President, the Vice President or Secretary shall preside. As 
chairperson, the President shall: 

1. Call to order any Board meeting; 

2. Preserve order and decorum in all Board meetings;  

3. Confine the Directors' debate at Board meetings to the issue under 
discussion;  

4. Decide all questions of order with guidance from Robert’s Rules of Order, 
subject to a Director’s appeal and request for a vote on the question of 
order; 

5. Have the right to declare a recess for a short intermission or break; and 

6. State all questions submitted for a voice vote or roll call vote, upon the 
request of any Director.  

The President shall generally be authorized to recommend the creation of Board 
committees to the Board and appoint Directors to serve on Board committees. The 
President shall call special meetings of the Board and review the agendas for Board 
meetings.  

The President shall inform the Board of all correspondence to TRWD that directly 
concerns the Board and deliver the advice of attorneys and auditors to Directors. 

The President, in consultation and cooperation with the General Manager and executive 
team or leadership team, shall respond to Director requests for reports, Director requests 
for information, requests for special meetings, and placement of matters on the agenda 
for Board meetings. The President may request that the General Manager or appropriate 
executive or leadership team member respond to Director requests. 

3.8 Duties of the Vice President. The Vice President shall act as the Board President 
in case of absence or unavailability of the President. The Vice President shall serve as 



the chairperson at any Board meeting if the President is absent. The Vice President shall 
also have authority to execute contracts and documents on behalf of TRWD in the 
absence or unavailability of the President. The Vice President shall also have the 
authority to attest to the President’s signature on all contracts and legal documents if the 
Secretary is absent or unavailable. 

3.9 Duties of the Secretary. The Secretary is responsible for ensuring that all records 
and books of TRWD are properly kept and may attest to the President’s signature on all 
contracts and legal documents. TRWD’s Records Management Officer assists the 
Secretary in the discharge of this responsibility to ensure proper management and 
retention of records and books. The General Manager may select one or more staff 
members to assist the Secretary and Records Management Officer ensure proper 
management and retention of records and books. 

3.10 Access to Information. An individual Director, acting in his or her official capacity, 
shall have the right to request and obtain information regarding TRWD’s administration 
or operations, including fiscal management, contracting and purchasing, personnel 
matters, and existing reports or internal correspondence regarding TRWD’s affairs. If a 
Director is not acting in his or her official capacity, the Director has no greater right to 
TRWD records than a member of the public. 

If information is requested and provided to an individual Director that is confidential or 
privileged, the General Manager or his designee shall advise the Director of the 
responsibility to comply with all confidentiality and privilege requirements. 

Individual Directors shall not direct or require TRWD staff to prepare reports derived from 
an analysis of information in existing District records or to create a new record compiled 
from information in existing District records. Directives to TRWD staff regarding the 
preparation of reports shall be made by the Board as a whole. 

3.11 Communication with or regarding TRWD Staff. Directors should direct all 
requests for information from or meetings with TRWD staff to the General Manager or his 
or her designee. The General Manager, or his or her designee, may make the decision 
whether to attend the meeting between a Director and TRWD staff. 

A Director may not exert pressure of any kind on the General Manager or staff members 
to hire, promote, change the compensation or benefits of, or dismiss any employee of the 
District. The authority to hire, promote, dismiss, or change the compensation or benefits 
of any TRWD staff ultimately rests with the General Manager. If a Director does attempt 
to exert such pressure, the General Manager is instructed and obligated to bring the 
matter to the attention of the Board. 



3.12 Training. The Board shall receive annual training and/or legal updates regarding 
open governance, particularly the Texas Open Meetings Act and Texas Public 
Information Act, and ethics. 

3.13 Board Compensation. A Director is entitled to receive fees of office for each day 
the Director actually spends performing the duties of a Director. For this policy, 
“performing the duties of a Director” means substantive performance of the management 
or business of the District, including participation in Board and committee meetings and 
other activities involving the substantive deliberation of District business and in pertinent 
educational programs. The phrase does not include routine or ministerial activities such 
as the execution of documents, self-preparation for meetings, or other activities requiring 
a minimal amount of time.  

The Board by resolution shall set the fees of office. The Board may not set the fees of 
office at an amount greater than the amount of the per diem set by the Texas Ethics 
Commission for members of the legislature under section 24a, Article III, Texas 
Constitution. 

3.14 Expense Reimbursement. Directors may submit and receive reimbursement for 
actual expenses incurred by an individual Director for his or her reasonable travel, 
lodging, or meals required when attending to the business of the District. 

3.15 Education and Training Expenses. Because a well-educated and 
knowledgeable Board of Directors is important to TRWD’s mission and objectives, TRWD 
may authorize and reimburse Directors’ reasonable expenses for attending educational, 
training, and developmental opportunities related to issues facing water districts.  

3.16  Board Vacancies. A mid-term vacancy on the Board shall be filled for the 
remainder of the unexpired term by appointment of the Board no later than sixty (60) days 
after the date the vacancy occurs. The appointment shall be made by majority vote of the 
Board at a regular or special meeting. Eligible candidates for appointment shall be 
compiled through any process the Board in its discretion determines to be fair, 
appropriate, and in the best interests of the public. Factors to consider in making the 
appointment may include the amount of time before the next regular Board election, the 
results of the most recent past election, public input, and any other factors the Board 
considers to be in the public’s interest.     

AUTHORITY 

Tex. Elec. Code § 67.003(b) 
Tex. Gov’t Code §§ 551.001, et seq. 
Tex. Water Code § 49.053 



Tex. Water Code § 49.054 
Tex. Water Code § 49.056 
Tex. Water Code § 49.057 
Tex. Water Code § 49.060 
Tex. Water Code § 49.105 
Tex. Water Code, Chapter 49, subchapter D 
  



4.0 THE GENERAL MANAGER 

The General Manager shall perform all general powers and duties delegated to the 
General Manager by the Board. The General Manager shall report to the Board of 
Directors and work with TRWD’s executive team and leadership team to effectuate the 
District’s strategic direction, formulate procedures and plans, and provide overall direction 
to the District to ensure TRWD’s continued success. The General Manager is ultimately 
responsible for the management, operational effectiveness, and financial health of the 
District. 

4.1 Executive and Leadership Teams. The General Manager may establish an 
executive team and leadership team and may select the members to serve on the 
executive team and leadership team to assist the General Manager with the management 
and operation of the District.  

4.2 Hiring and Removal. The Board, acting as a body, shall hire a General Manager 
of TRWD. The Board, acting as a body, may remove a General Manager if the Board 
determines it is in the best interests of TRWD. 

4.3 Duties and Responsibilities of the General Manager. The General Manager 
shall manage and operate TRWD’s affairs in accordance with local, state, and federal law 
and Board policies. The General Manager may delegate any general duties or 
responsibilities, including the duties identified below, to a member of the executive team, 
leadership team, or other TRWD staff to serve as the General Manager’s designee. 

In addition to the general powers and duties delegated by the Board to the General 
Manager, the General Manager shall: 

1. Collaborate with the Board of Directors in defining and establishing TRWD’s 
mission, vision, and strategic goals; 

2. Attend all special and regular meetings of the Board of Directors and 
meetings of Board Committees, or ensure that a member of the executive 
team or leadership team attends in the General Manager’s absence or 
unavailability; 

3. Manage and oversee the complete operation of TRWD in accordance with 
the direction established in the Strategic Plan and ensure compliance with 
all legal and regulatory requirements; 

4. Supervise and control access to and activities upon TRWD facilities or 
property; 



5. Have ultimate authority to hire, determine compensation and benefits, and 
supervise all employees of TRWD, including dismissal of any TRWD 
employee for any reason not prohibited by local, state, or federal law; 

6. Serve as the primary spokesperson and representative for the District and 
act as a liaison between the District and the community; 

7. Develop and recommend to the Board strategies and operating plans that 
support Board initiatives and assist in achieving short-term and long-term 
goals of TRWD, including strategies and plans which ensure and promote 
the financial health and viability of the District; 

8. Ensure the Board is advised of the financial health and needs of the District; 

9. Continuously review Board policies and if any deficiencies are identified, 
provide such information to the Board; 

10. Ensure TRWD staff develop and implement administrative procedures and 
practices to effectuate Board policies and to ensure TRWD complies with 
all local, state, and federal laws; 

11. Ensure TRWD administrative procedures and practices are consistent with 
and reflective of the policies adopted by the Board; 

12. Make recommendations to the Board on any matter the General Manager 
deems necessary;  

13. Make recommendations, as appropriate, to the Board regarding the hiring 
of private consultants (accountants, engineers, and financial advisers) and 
supervise and coordinate the authorized work of any private consultant 
retained by the Board; and 

14. Perform any other duties and responsibilities assigned to the General 
Manager by the Board. 

4.4 Annual Evaluation. The Board of Directors shall conduct an annual review of the 
General Manager’s performance. The annual review should be conducted prior to 
December 1 each year. The Board may enlist the assistance of a private consultant or 
attorney to facilitate the evaluation process.  

The Board shall conduct the General Manager’s evaluation, which may be developed with 
a private consultant, based on pre-established criteria identified by the Board that are tied 
to the District’s Strategic Plan and the duties and responsibilities delegated to the General 
Manager. The General Manager shall conduct a self-evaluation, in consultation with any 
private consultant retained by the Board, which addresses each of the criteria established 
by the Board. 



Each Director shall participate in the evaluation of the General Manager based on the 
General Manager’s self-evaluation and a Director’s individual discussion with the General 
Manager or interview conducted by any private consultant retained by the Board.   

The Board shall complete the evaluation and discuss the Board’s conclusions with the 
General Manager in an executive session closed to the public. 

4.5 Compensation. The Board of Directors shall establish the annual salary the 
General Manager receives. The Board may vote to authorize additional remuneration to 
the General Manager, such as incentive or performance-based compensation, so long as 
the additional compensation is consistent with the Texas Constitution and Texas state 
law.  

4.6 Ethics and Standards of Conduct. The General Manager shall follow all 
standards of conduct and ethical practices set forth in Board policies and TRWD’s 
administrative procedures. The General Manager shall not accept payment from any 
source other than TRWD for work performed as the District’s General Manager.  

No member of the General Manager’s family, within the third degree by consanguinity or 
within the second degree of affinity as defined in Chapter 573, subchapter B of the Texas 
Government Code, and no domestic partner of or individual in a dating relationship with 
the General Manager, may be employed by TRWD or have a substantial interest in an 
organization associated with or benefiting from TRWD without disclosure to and 
authorization from the Board of Directors. 

  



5.0 BOARD POLICYMAKING. In addition to these Board Governance Policies and 
the framework under which the Board of Directors must operate under the law, the Board 
shall adopt additional policies for the operation of TRWD. The following procedures shall 
be followed with respect to preparation and adoption of Board Governance Policies, 
Board policies, and presentation of TRWD administrative procedures to the Board. 

5.1 Definitions.  

Board Governance Policies: Board Governance Policies shall be the policies, 
outlined herein, that are adopted by the Board regarding the Board’s own internal 
operations and procedures and shall be binding on all individual Directors serving on the 
Board. 

Board Policies: TRWD shall be guided by Board-adopted written policies 
accessible to the public that serve as a primary method by which the Board exercises its 
governance over the operation of the District. 

Administrative Procedures: The General Manager and TRWD staff shall be 
responsible for developing and enforcing procedures for the operation of the District that 
are consistent with and designed to implement Board policy and local, state, and federal 
law. TRWD’s administrative procedures shall be designed to promote and further the 
mission and objectives of the District. These procedures shall be the administrative 
regulations of TRWD and should consist of guidelines, handbooks, manuals, forms, and 
any other documents setting forth the standard operating procedures of TRWD. 

5.2 Requests for Additional Policies or Amendments to Policies. The General 
Manager or designee shall monitor Board policies and the implementation of Board 
policies and identify any needed changes or additions to existing Board policies to ensure 
compliance with all local, state, and federal law, and the effective operations of the 
District.  

The Board or an individual Director may also request at a properly-noticed meeting or in 
writing to the Board President and General Manager, that TRWD staff prepare an 
additional Board policy or amendment to existing Board Governance Policies or other 
Board policy for consideration by the Administration and Policy Committee. 

5.3 Policy Formation and Submission. When the General Manager or designee 
identifies needed additions or amendments to Board Governance Policies or Board 
policies, or the Board or an individual Director requests additions or amendments to Board 
Governance Policies or Board policies, the General Manager or designee shall prepare 
the requested policies or amendments to existing policy. The General Manager or 
designee shall ensure all proposed Board Governance Policies or Board policies or 
amendments to existing Board Governance Policies or Board policies go through legal 
review. After legal review, the General Manager or designee shall submit the proposed 



policies or amendments to existing policy to the Administration and Policy Committee for 
review and consideration. 

After consideration of the proposed additions or amendments to Board Governance 
Policies or Board policies by the Administration and Policy Committee, the Committee 
members, in consultation with and assistance from the General Manager or appropriate 
member of the executive or leadership team, shall make recommendations regarding any 
proposed additions or amendments to Board Governance Policies or Board policies to 
the Board for review and consideration. 

5.4 Consideration and Adoption of Board Policy. All proposed policies or 
amendments to existing Board Governance Policies or other Board policies shall be 
considered by the Board at a regular, special, or called Board meeting or Board workshop. 
The proposed policy or amendment to Board Governance Policies or other Board policy 
shall be timely placed on the Board agenda. A copy of the proposed Board policy or 
amendment to existing Board policy shall be provided to all Directors at least 72 hours 
before the Board meeting where the proposed policy or amendment to Board Governance 
Policies or other Board policy will be considered. 

All policies or amendments to Board Governance Policies or other Board policies must 
be adopted by a majority vote of the Board at a properly-noticed meeting at which a 
quorum of the Board is present and voting. The formal adoption of Board Governance 
Policies or other Board policies or amendments to Board Governance Policies or other 
Board policies shall be recorded in the minutes of the Board meeting. Only those 
proposed policies or amendments to proposed policies adopted by a majority vote of the 
Board shall be regarded as official policy of TRWD’s Board of Directors. 

5.5 Board Review of Administrative Procedures. Administrative procedures that 
are developed or amended by the General Manager or his or her designee shall be 
regularly presented to the Board. The Board does not vote on or adopt TRWD’s 
administrative procedures. 

  



6.0 BOARD MEETINGS 

A meeting of the Board of Directors of TRWD is defined as any meeting that is required 
to be posted under the Texas Open Meetings Act. The Board shall give written notice of 
the date, hour, place, and subject(s) of each meeting it holds.   

All regular monthly meetings and special meetings of the Board shall be open to the 
public, and public notices shall be posted in compliance with applicable state law.  

6.1 Regular Monthly Board Meetings. The Board of Directors shall conduct monthly 
regular Board meetings in accordance with Section 49.064 of the Texas Water Code and 
Chapter 551 of the Texas Government Code. The Monthly Board Meeting shall be held 
at 800 E. Northside Drive, Fort Worth, Texas in the TRWD Administrative Offices building. 
When determined necessary and for the convenience of the Directors, the Board 
President, or a majority vote of the of the Board, may change the location of a Board 
meeting. The notice for that Board meeting shall reflect the changed location.  

Directors of the TRWD shall be given 72 hours’ notice for regular monthly and special 
meetings. 

All meeting notices and official records of Board meetings shall be preserved in 
accordance with applicable state law and TRWD’s record retention procedures. 

6.2 Special or Called Board Meetings/Board Workshops. The Board President 
shall call special or called Board meetings or workshops as appropriate. The Board 
President shall call a special or called Board meeting or workshop at the President’s 
discretion or at the formal, written request of two Directors. A formal request shall: 

1. Be submitted by two or more Directors to the Board President either by e-
mail or paper; 

2. Contain language for the specific agenda item(s) for the requested special 
or called Board meeting that is/are identical from two Directors; and 

3. If submitted on paper, be signed by two or more Directors with the date of 
the request.  

The Board shall hold a special or called meeting addressing the specific agenda items 
presented in the formal, written request within 60 days after the formal, written request is 
received.  

6.3 Emergency Meetings. The Board President may call an emergency meeting 
when an emergency or an urgent public matter arises that is an imminent threat to public 
health and safety, or a reasonably unforeseeable situation arises, and the Board has a 
need to take immediate action. 



Notice for emergency meetings shall be provided to the Directors at least one hour prior 
to the scheduled time of an emergency meeting. 

6.4 Notice to the Public. Notice of a Board meeting shall be posted in a place 
convenient to the public and in the Administrative Offices of TRWD, as well as on the 
internet, at least 72 hours before the scheduled time of a meeting. The notice shall also 
be provided to the secretary of state and the county clerk of the county in which the 
administrative office of TRWD is located; or, TRWD may post notice of each meeting on 
TRWD’s website. 

Notice for an emergency Board meeting or the addition of an emergency action item to a 
meeting agenda shall be posted for at least one hour before the meeting is convened. 

6.5 Executive Session (Closed Meeting). The Board of Directors may meet in 
executive session closed to the general public on matters exempted by the Texas Open 
Meetings Act or other applicable state law from public meeting requirements, provided 
that requirements for public notice and documentation of such sessions are followed.  

Procedures for Executive Session: If a closed meeting is allowed, the Board shall 
not conduct the executive session unless a quorum of the Board first convenes in an open 
meeting for which proper notice has been given and the presiding officer has publicly 
announced that an executive session will be held and has identified the section or 
sections of the Texas Open Meetings Act or other applicable law under which the 
executive session is held.  

Certified Agenda: The Board shall keep a certified agenda of the proceedings of 
each executive session closed to the general public except for private consultations with 
the District’s attorney as permitted under Sections 551.071 and 551.103 of the Texas 
Government Code. The certified agenda will include a statement of the subject matter for 
each deliberation, a record of any further action taken, and an announcement by the 
Board President at the beginning and end of the closed executive session indicating the 
date and time. Board members, acting in their official capacity, may not receive, remove, 
or copy the certified agenda from an executive session.  

The Board President shall attest that the certified agenda is a true and correct record of 
the proceedings. The certified agenda will be retained by the District’s General Counsel 
as a record of a closed executive session for at least two years after the date of the 
meeting. If litigation regarding the executive session is brought within the two-year 
preservation period, the Board shall preserve the certified agenda while the litigation is 
pending. 

Recording Prohibited: Executive sessions (closed meetings) shall not be recorded 
by any person unless a majority vote of the Board authorizes such recording. 

Conflicts of Interest in Executive Session: A member of the Board of Directors shall 
not participate in a portion of an executive session involving any litigation that the member 



has pending against the District. Additionally, no person shall attend a portion of an 
executive session when the individual’s interests on a topic are adverse to the District’s.  

No Participation in Improper Closed Meetings: No Director shall willfully call or aid 
in calling an executive session, or to close a meeting or session to the public, or willfully 
participate in an executive session where an executive session is not duly posted or 
otherwise not permissible. No Director shall knowingly participate in an executive session 
knowing that a certified agenda of the executive session is not being kept. No Director or 
group of Directors of the Board should circumvent, or conspire to circumvent, the 
provisions of the Texas Open Meetings Act by meeting in numbers constituting less that 
a quorum for the purpose of secret deliberations in contravention of the Open Meetings 
Act. 

If, in the opinion of a Director, a discussion in the executive session goes beyond the 
specific called agenda item(s) or includes topics that should not be discussed in executive 
session under law, the Director should call the presiding officer’s attention to a “point of 
order.” 

Except as required by court order, other applicable law or under the provisions of this 
section, no one other than a TRWD Board member will be granted access to executive 
session records. Requests for access or review of such records by a TRWD staff member 
or legal counsel retained to represent TRWD must be made in writing to the General 
Counsel and must state the reasons for the request. Access to the records will be granted 
only by the General Counsel. The General Counsel will be responsible for maintaining 
the confidentiality of executive session records. 

6.6 Rules of Order. The Board of Directors will use the modified parliamentary 
procedures as articulated in Robert’s Rules of Order, Newly Revised as a guide when 
applicable or when any procedural dispute arises. The Board President shall be the final 
authority for interpreting the applicability of Robert’s Rules of Order in all Board meetings. 
The Board may suspend procedural rules at any Board meeting by a majority vote of 
Directors who are present and cast a vote. 

6.7 Voting. Directors may vote by a show of hands or by voice vote, depending on the 
direction given by the Board President. Any Director may abstain from a vote. Such vote 
or abstention from the vote shall be recorded upon that Director’s request. 

Any final action, decision, or vote by the Board on a matter deliberated in an executive 
session shall be made only in an open meeting for which proper notice has been given. 

6.8 Discussion and Limitations. All Board discussions shall first be addressed to the 
Board President and then opened to the entire Board. Discussion shall be limited solely 
to the agenda item presently under deliberation. The Board President shall terminate any 
discussion that does not apply to the agenda item before the Board. 



Additionally, the Board President shall terminate discussions which exceed any agreed 
time limitation for discussion of a particular agenda item, and that time limit has expired. 
The Board President shall not otherwise interfere or impede debate among the Directors 
so long as members wish to address only those items under consideration. 

Directors shall conduct themselves in accordance with the Board’s Standards of Conduct 
and ethical obligations during discussions.  

6.9 Public Comment. The Board shall provide a forum at regular Board meetings for 
members of the public to comment on matters not on the agenda. The Board will allow 
each member of the public who desires to address the Board regarding an item on an 
agenda for an open meeting of the Board to address the Board regarding the agenda item 
at the beginning of the Board meeting during the public comment forum provided by the 
Board. At all other times during Board meetings, the audience shall not enter into 
discussion or debate on matters being considered by the Board.  

All individual presentations shall be limited to three (3) minutes, regardless of the number 
of agenda items on which the individual seeks to comment, or six (6) minutes if such 
comments are provided through a translator. The Board President may allow additional 
time for an individual presentation if the Board President deems the time limit is 
unreasonable under the circumstances. 

In response to an inquiry from a member of the public at a meeting, the Board may either 
provide a statement of specific factual information or recite existing policy. Any 
deliberation or decision about the subject of the inquiry shall be limited to a proposal to 
place the subject on the agenda for a subsequent meeting.  

6.10 Minutes. Action taken by the Board of Directors shall be carefully recorded by the 
Board Secretary or TRWD staff member assisting the Board Secretary and provided to 
all Directors before the next meeting at which the minutes shall be approved. Public 
comments shall be recorded in the minutes by reciting the agenda item and/or subject 
written on the commenter’s speaker card submitted prior to the meeting, or as 
communicated to TRWD staff prior to the public meeting.  Corrections to the minutes shall 
be made at the meeting at which they are approved. Once approved or corrected by the 
Board at the next regular or special/called meeting, these minutes shall serve as the legal 
record of official Board action. Approved minutes of all meetings shall be signed by the 
Board President and Board Secretary. 

Minutes of the Board of Directors meetings shall be kept in an official file and retained in 
accordance with TRWD’s records retention schedule. Individuals wishing to review the 
minutes should contact TRWD during regular business hours. Minutes may also be 
accessed by visiting TRWD’s website. 

6.11 Conduct at Board Meetings. The Board shall not tolerate disruption of the 
meeting by members of the public. If, after at least one warning from the Board President, 



any person continues to disrupt the meeting by his or her words or actions, the Board 
President shall request assistance from law enforcement officials to have the person 
removed from the meeting. 

Individuals attending Board meetings shall not engage in conduct that disrupts, interrupts, 
or causes delay in the proceedings. The Board President shall take such measures as 
may be necessary to ensure that decorum is preserved at all times during Board 
meetings.  

6.12 Board Committees. Duly-created Board committees, discussed in Section 8.0 of 
these Board Governance Policies—which may consist of Directors and TRWD staff—may 
only conduct meetings, consider issues, and make recommendations to the Board 
regarding matters within the specific authority granted by the Board. Unless otherwise 
delegated by the Board to the committee, to be binding on the Board, all committee 
recommendations must be provided to the Board at the next regular or special/called 
Board meeting for consideration and discussion, and a vote by the Board regarding the 
committee’s recommendation. 

6.13 Training. Members of the TRWD Board of Directors shall participate in annual 
training prior to September 1 each year on the Texas Open Meetings Act.  

AUTHORITY 

Tex. Gov’t Code §§ 551.001, et seq. 
Tex. Gov’t Code § 551.005 
Tex. Gov’t Code § 551.007 
Tex. Gov’t Code § 551.041 
Tex. Gov’t Code 551.042 
Tex. Gov’t Code § 551.045 
Tex. Gov’t Code E § 551.0554 
Tex. Gov’t Code §  551.101 
Tex. Gov’t Code § 551.103 
Tex. Gov’t Code § 551.104 
Tex. Gov’t Code § 551.144 
Tex. Gov’t Code § 551.445 
Tex. Atty. Gen. Op. JC-0120 (1999) 
Tex. Atty. Gen. Op. JM-1004 (1989) 
Tex. Atty. Gen. Op. JC-0506 (2002) 
Tex. Atty. Gen. Op. KP-0300 (2020) 
  



7.0 BOARD MEETING AGENDAS 

The General Manager, in consultation with the Board President, shall prepare the agenda 
for all Board meetings. Agendas for all Board meetings shall be sufficiently specific in 
order to inform the public of subjects to be deliberated at the meeting, including any 
special or unusual matters in which the public has a particular interest.  

7.1 Requests for Agenda Items. The Board President or any two members of the 
Board of Directors may request that a subject be included on the meeting agenda for 
open meetings. A request can be made orally at a Board meeting that is open to the public 
or in writing to the Board President and/or General Manager.  

The General Manager shall include all timely submitted items that satisfy these criteria on 
a preliminary agenda for review in consultation with the Board President. If a written 
request for an agenda item is not made with sufficient time to be placed on the agenda 
for the next Board meeting, the General Manager shall include the requested agenda item 
on the agenda for the following Board meeting.  

7.2 Order of Business. The order of business for all regular monthly meetings of the 
Board of Directors shall be as set forth in the agenda accompanying the notice of the 
meeting. During the meeting, the Board President may change the order in which agenda 
items are taken, unless a majority of the Board votes to retain the order of items as listed 
on the agenda. 

7.3 Consent Agenda. When preparing the agenda, the General Manager, in 
consultation with the Board President, shall determine which agenda items, if any, qualify 
for placement on the consent agenda. Consent agendas shall include routine or recurring 
items which are grouped under one action item. Consent agenda items shall be presented 
on the posted agenda by listing them individually under the “Consent Agenda” item, with 
additional detail provided in the posted backup material. The Board of Directors shall be 
provided with background material supporting each consent agenda item. Consent 
agenda items shall be acted on by one Board vote without separate discussion, unless 
the General Manager or a Board member requests that an item be withdrawn from the 
consent agenda for individual consideration. Any remaining consent agenda items shall 
be adopted under a single motion and vote. 

By way of example only, consent Agenda Items may include, but are not limited to: 

1. Items that are routine and ministerial in nature;  

2. Items not involving an expenditure of funds; or 

3. Items involving a minimal or nominal expenditure of funds. 



7.4 Executive Session. All Board meeting agendas shall include language reflecting 
the possibility of an executive session during an open meeting, in accordance with state 
law. 

7.5 Emergency Agenda Items. In an emergency or when there is an urgent public 
necessity, a meeting agenda to deliberate or take action on an emergency or urgent public 
necessity, or a supplemental notice to add the deliberation or taking of action on the 
emergency or urgent public necessity as an item to the agenda for a meeting for which 
notice has been posted in accordance with the Texas Open Meetings Act, is sufficient if 
the notice or supplemental notice is posted for at least one hour before the meeting is 
convened. 

AUTHORITY 

Tex. Gov’t Code §§ 551.001, et seq. 

  



8.0 BOARD COMMITTEES 

The purpose of Board Committees is to provide adequate time for detailed review and 
evaluation of information for a small group of Directors to be knowledgeable and informed 
on appropriate matters. The Committees shall keep the Board apprised of the matters it 
is considering and make recommendations to the Board prior to Board action. 

8.1 Standing Committees. TRWD’s Board has established the following standing or 
perpetuate committees of TRWD’s Board of Directors: 

Construction and Operations Committee. This Committee reviews TRWD’s 
construction activities as well as the operations and maintenance of TRWD infrastructure. 
This review includes, but is not limited to, design, construction, and maintenance 
contracts for new and existing infrastructure, water supply contracts, conservation 
programs, watershed protection and water quality, and electricity purchases. 

Real Estate Committee. This Committee reviews, considers, and evaluates real 
estate purchases, operating agreements, and sales of real estate. 

Finance and Audit Committee. This Committee reviews TRWD’s financial 
information, investment policies, and audits. This Committee serves on behalf of the 
Board as the primary point of contact for the internal auditor and internal audit department. 

Administration and Policy Committee. This Committee reviews and evaluates 
Board Governance Policies and Board Policies, including proposals or recommendations 
for additions or amendments to Board Governance Policies and Board Policies. This 
Committee also oversees the General Manager’s annual evaluation and makes 
recommendations to the Board regarding the General Manager’s compensation. 

Recreation Committee. This Committee considers all aspects of TRWD’s 
recreation investments including, but not limited to, infrastructure investments, 
infrastructure operations and maintenance, programming, and events. Construction, 
operations, and maintenance activities specific to TRWD recreation infrastructure are 
considered by and within the purview of the Recreation Committee. All other construction, 
operations, and maintenance activities are in the purview of the Construction and 
Operations Committee. 

8.2 Special Purpose Committees: In addition to the standing or perpetual 
committees discussed in Section 8.1, the Board may vote from time to time to create 
special purpose committees to address a particular project or program. The Board shall 
give a name to a special purpose committee that is reflective of the committee’s function 



and purpose. A special purpose committee created by the Board shall exist for no longer 
than one year unless the Board votes to extend the time for its existence. 

8.3 New Committees. The Board President or two members of the Board may 
propose the creation of new or additional standing committees or special purpose 
committees. The Board shall consider the creation of any new standing or special purpose 
committee to confirm the need for the new committee. Any new standing or special 
purpose committee is created by a majority vote of the Board at the next regularly-
scheduled Board meeting after the new committee is proposed. 

8.4 Committee Membership. The Board President appoints Directors to standing 
committees or special purpose committees. Each Director shall serve on at least two 
standing committees. The General Manager or designee from the executive or leadership 
team shall be an ex-officio member of all Committees. The General Manager and/or 
designee may be excused from a Committee meeting when matters related to the 
General Manager are under review or consideration. 

If a vacancy occurs on a Board-established Committee, the President shall promptly 
designate a replacement Director to the Committee. 

On or before August 1 in an election year, the Board shall vote to appoint or reappoint 
the members of TRWD’s standing committees. 

8.5 Committee Meetings. Committee meetings will be held on the date, time, and 
location determined by the Directors who serve on the Committee.  

8.6 Board Referrals of Matters to Committees. The Board may refer specific items 
to committees for review or consideration and for recommendation to the Board. If the 
Board refers an item to a Committee, a Committee meeting shall be called as soon as 
practicable to review or consider the matter and prepare a recommendation to the Board 
for potential Board action. 

  



9.0 BOARD OF DIRECTORS STANDARDS OF CONDUCT AND ETHICAL 
OBLIGATIONS 

These Standards of Conduct govern, affirm, and clarify the policies and expectations of 
TRWD concerning the conduct of members of the Board of Directors. It is in the best 
interests of TRWD for its governing body to maintain the highest standards of integrity, 
candor, impartiality, and conduct so that the best interests of TRWD may be served and 
the business of TRWD is carried out in a manner that upholds TRWD’s business 
responsibilities and derives confidence of TRWD’s staff, customers, and constituents. In 
conducting themselves in a manner consistent with the highest standards of integrity and 
personal conduct, TRWD Directors shall avoid even the appearance of any conflict of 
interest or impropriety. 

These Standards of Conduct and Ethical Obligations should be reflected in Board policies 
and TRWD administrative procedures to ensure the General Manager, TRWD’s executive 
and leadership teams, and all TRWD staff adhere to appropriate standards of conduct 
and the utmost ethical practices in the performance of their duties for TRWD. 

9.1 General Standards of Conduct. Each Director is expected to demonstrate the 
highest degree of ethics in their official responsibilities and duties in order to maintain the 
integrity of TRWD. Each Director must commit to ensuring that they conduct themselves 
with honesty, integrity, and fairness in the discharge of their duties and ensure that TRWD 
business is conducted ethically and transparently. 

Each Director is expected to become familiar with these policies and state law and 
procedures regarding ethical practices for public officials. 

Additionally, members of the Board of Directors shall adhere to the following standards: 

1. Attend all duly-scheduled Board meetings and committee meetings insofar 
as possible and become informed concerning issues to be considered at 
those meetings. 

2. Communicate to other Board members and the General Manager 
expressions of public reaction to Board policies and programs. 

3. Inform oneself about current issues by individual study and through 
participation in programs providing needed information. 

4. Avoid being placed in a position of conflict of interest, and refrain from 
using the Board position for personal or partisan gain. 

5. Take no private action that will compromise the Board or TRWD staff and 
respect the confidentiality of information that is privileged or confidential. 



6. Bring about desired changes through legal and ethical procedures, 
upholding and enforcing all applicable statutes, regulations, and court 
decisions pertaining to water control and improvement districts. 

7. Work with other Board members to establish effective Board policies and 
to delegate authority for the administration of the District to the General 
Manager. 

8. Endeavor to make policy decisions only after full discussion at publicly-
held Board meetings. 

9. Render all decisions based on the available facts and independent 
judgment and refuse to surrender that judgment to other individuals or 
special interest groups. 

10. Encourage the free expression of opinion by all Board members, and seek 
systematic communications between and among the Board, TRWD staff, 
and the community. 

11. Work with other Board members and the General Manager to establish 
effective policies and practices prohibiting unlawful discrimination, including 
conduct that constitutes sexual harassment. 

12. Support TRWD’s employment of those persons best qualified to serve as 
staff and insist on avoiding preferential treatment of any person. 

9.2 Attendance at Board Meetings. If a Director fails to attend six (6) consecutive 
regular meetings of the Board, or one-half or more of the regular meetings scheduled 
during the prior twelve (12) months, the Board by unanimous vote may remove the 
Director from serving as a member of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors, 
however, may determine if fairness requires that the absences be excused on the basis 
of illness or other good cause.  

9.3 Conflict of Interest Disclosure. If a Director has a substantial interest in a 
business entity or in real property, as defined by Local Government Code Chapter 171, 
the Board member shall file with the official recordkeeper of the Board, before a vote or 
decision on any matter involving the business entity or the real property, an affidavit 
stating the nature and extent of the interest and shall abstain from further participation on 
the matter if the Board action will have a special economic effect on the business entity 
or the value of the property that is distinguishable from its effect on the public. 

If a Director is required to file and does file an affidavit under this section, the Board 
member is not required to abstain from further participation in the matter at issue if a 
majority of the Board is likewise required to file and does file affidavits of similar interest 
on the same official action. 



An individual has a “substantial interest” if the individual or his or her parent, child, 
stepchild, spouse, or spouse’s parent: 

1. Has a controlling interest in the business entity; 

2. Has ownership in excess of ten percent of the voting interest in the business 
entity or in excess of $15,000 of the fair market value of the business entity; 

3. Has any participating interest, either direct or indirect, by shares, stock, or 
otherwise, whether or not voting rights are included, in the profits, proceeds, 
or capital gains of the business entity in excess of ten percent; 

4. Holds the position of a member of the Board of Directors or other governing 
board of the business entity; 

5. Serves as an elected officer of the business entity; or 

6. Is an employee of the business entity. 

9.4 Contractors, Vendors, and Consultants. All activities of TRWD shall be carried 
out in accordance with local, state, and federal law. Directors are expected to avoid any 
improper interactions with contractors, vendors, and consultants who provide services to 
or seek to provide services including, but not limited to, bribes, kickbacks, or other illegal 
payments. 

TRWD does not authorize or condone illegal or unethical activities by any of its 
contractors, vendors, and consultants. Directors who have knowledge of illegal or 
unethical activities by such third parties shall immediately report to the Board or the 
General Manager any activities which may be an indicator of illegal or unethical business 
practices. 

No Director, or member of a Director’s family, shall solicit or accept any gift, favor, or 
service from a current or potential contractor, vendor, or consultant that might reasonably 
tend to influence the Director in the discharge of official duties or that the officer knows or 
should know is being offered with the intent to influence the Director’s official conduct. 
Directors are specifically prohibited from accepting from current or potential contractors, 
vendors, and consultants: 

1. Vacations, pleasure trips, or hunting trips; 

2. Discounts not available to the general public; 

3. Products or services not available to the general public under similar 
circumstances; 

4. Loans or advances; 



5. Entertainment at a discount unavailable to the general public; or 

6. Other unusual favors not available to the general public at the same cost. 

Any Director receiving such offers shall immediately report such offers to the General 
Manager or to the Board of Directors. 

A “gift” does not include a reasonable meal accepted as a guest, or a promotional item of 
nominal value, typical of items given at vendor booths at conferences. 

9.5 Confidentiality. When there are competing confidentiality or security concerns, 
the Board may establish reasonable procedures or limitations to preserve confidentiality. 
If a member of the Board requests access to records which may be confidential, TRWD 
shall direct such requests to the General Counsel for review. Individual records 
responsive to the request shall first be reviewed by the General Counsel and marked as 
“Confidential.” Records so marked may be reviewed by the requesting Board member, 
but copies may not be released, or their contents disclosed, without the approval of the 
Board. The reviewing Board member is required to maintain the records in the same 
manner they were maintained by TRWD. 

At the time a Director is provided access to confidential records or to reports compiled 
from such records, the General Manager, other District employee, or General Counsel 
shall advise them of their responsibility to comply with confidentiality requirements. 

9.6 Privilege. Communications between the Board of Directors and legal counsel is 
considered confidential if the information is not intended for disclosure to third persons 
other than those persons to whom the disclosure of information is made in furtherance of 
rendering professional legal services to TRWD and/or the Board of Directors or those 
reasonably necessary for the transmission of the communication. The attorney-client 
privilege belongs to the Board as a whole, and the privilege may not be waived except by 
the Board as a whole. Any unauthorized disclosure of an attorney-client communication 
is strictly prohibited. 

9.7 Prohibition on Nepotism. A Director may not appoint a person to a position that 
is to be directly or indirectly compensated from public funds or fees of office if the person 
is related to the Director by blood (consanguinity) within the third degree or by marriage 
(affinity) within the second degree; or the person is related to another member of the 
Board of Directors by blood or marriage within a prohibited degree defined under state 
law. In addition, a Director may not appoint a person to a position that is to be directly or 
indirectly compensated from public funds or fees of office if the person is a domestic 
partner of or in a romantic relationship with the Director. 

This prohibition on nepotism expressly includes directing the General Manager or TRWD 
staff to employ such a person at TRWD. 



9.8 Prohibition on Bribery. A Director shall not intentionally or knowingly offer, 
confer, agree to confer on another, solicit, accept, or agree to accept a benefit: 

• In exchange for the Director’s decision, opinion, recommendation, vote, or 
other exercise of discretion as a Director of TRWD; 

• In exchange for a violation of a duty imposed on the public servant by law; or 

• That is a political contribution as defined by Title 15 of the Election Code or 
an expenditure made and reported as a lobbying expense in accordance 
with Government Code, Chapter 305, if the benefit was offered, conferred, 
solicited, accepted, or agreed to pursuant to an express agreement to take 
or withhold a specific exercise of official discretion, if such exercise of official 
discretion would not have been taken or withheld but for the benefit. 
“Benefit” means anything reasonably regarded as pecuniary gain or 
pecuniary advantage, including benefit to any other person in whose welfare 
the beneficiary has a direct and substantial interest.  

9.9 Prohibition on Illegal Gifts: A Director shall not solicit, accept, or agree to accept 
any benefit from a person the Director is interested in or likely to become interested in 
contracts, purchases, payments, claims, or other pecuniary transactions with TRWD.  

A Director who receives an unsolicited benefit that the Director is prohibited from 
accepting under this section may donate the benefit to a governmental entity that has the 
authority to accept the gift or may donate the benefit to a recognized tax exempt charitable 
organization formed for educational, religious, or scientific purposes. 

This prohibition on illegal gifts does not apply to: 

1. A fee prescribed by law to be received by the Director or any other benefit 
to which the Director is lawfully entitled or for which he or she gives 
legitimate consideration in a capacity other than as a public servant; 

2. A gift or other benefit conferred on account of kinship or a personal, 
professional, or business relationship independent of the status of the 
recipient as a Director; 

3. A benefit to a Director required to file a statement under Texas Government 
Code Chapter 572 or a report under Texas Election Code Title 15 that is 
derived from a function in honor or appreciation of the recipient if: 

• The benefit and the source of any benefit in excess of $50 is reported 
in the statement; and 

• The benefit is used solely to defray the expenses that accrue in the 
performance of duties or activities as a Director which are non-
reimbursable by TRWD; 



4. A political contribution as defined by Title 15 of the Texas Election Code; 

5. An item with a value of less than $50, excluding cash or a negotiable 
instrument as described by Texas Business and Commerce Code § 3.104; 

6. An item issued by a governmental entity that allows the use of property or 
facilities owned, leased, or operated by the governmental entity; 

7. Transportation and lodging expenses or meals in connection with a 
conference or similar event at which the Director renders services, such as 
addressing an audience or engaging in a seminar, to the extent those 
services are more than merely perfunctory; or 

8. Food, lodging, transportation, or entertainment accepted as a guest and, if 
the donee is required by law to report those items, reported by the donee in 
accordance with that law. 

9.10 Prohibition on Improper Honoraria and Expenses. A Director shall not solicit, 
accept, or agree to accept an honorarium in consideration for services that the Director 
would not have been requested to provide but for his or her official position or duties as 
a member of TRWD’s Board of Directors. A Director, however, is not prohibited from 
accepting transportation and lodging expenses or meals in connection with a conference 
or similar event in which he or she renders services, such as addressing an audience or 
engaging in a seminar, to the extent those services are more than merely perfunctory. 

9.11 Prohibition on Abuse of Office. A Director shall not, with intent to obtain a benefit 
or with intent to harm or defraud another, intentionally or knowingly violate a law that 
specifically applies to Directors of water districts and that directly or indirectly imposes a 
duty on the Director or governs the conduct of the Director. A Director, likewise, shall not 
misuse TRWD property, services, personnel, or any other thing of value belonging to the 
District, that has come into his or her custody by virtue of his or her status as a Director 
of TRWD’s Board. Such misuse includes dealing with TRWD property contract to: 

• An agreement under which the Director holds the property; 

• A contract of employment or oath of office of the Director; 

• A law, including provisions of the General Appropriations Act specifically 
relating to government property, that prescribes the manner of custody or 
disposition of the property; or 

• A limited purpose for which the property is delivered or received.  



9.12 Prohibition on Misuse of Official Information: A Director shall not use or rely 
on information the Director has access to by virtue of his or her service as a Director and 
that has not been made public to: 

• Acquire or aid another to acquire a pecuniary interest in any property, 
transaction, or enterprise that may be affected by the information; 

• Speculate or aid another to speculate on the basis of the information; or 

• As a Director, coerce another into suppressing or failing to report that 
information to a law enforcement agency. 

A Director likewise shall not, with intent to obtain a benefit or with intent to harm or defraud 
another, disclose or use information for a nongovernmental purpose that the Director has 
access to because he or she serves as a member of the Board of Directors that has not 
been made public. 

For purposes of Section 9.12, “information that has not been made public” means any 
information to which the public does not generally have access, and that is prohibited 
from disclosure under the Texas Public Information Act.  

9.13 Protections for Acting on a Legislative Measure. A Director may not be subject 
to disciplinary action or a sanction, penalty, disability, or liability for: 

• An action permitted by law that the Director takes in the Director’s official 
capacity regarding a legislative measure; 

• Proposing, endorsing, or expressing support for or opposition to a legislative 
measure or taking any action permitted by law to support or oppose a 
legislative measure; 

• The effect of a legislative measure or of a change in law proposed by a 
legislative measure on any person; or 

• A breach of duty in connection with the Director’s practice of or employment 
in a licensed or regulated profession or occupation, to disclose to any 
person information, or to obtain a waiver or consent from any person, 
regarding the Director’s actions relating to a legislative measure; or the 
substance, effects, or potential effects of a legislative measure. 

 

AUTHORITY 

Tex. Gov’t Code §§ 551.001, et seq. 



 

Tex. Gov’t Code §§ 552.001, et seq. 
Tex. Gov’t Code § 572.059 
Tex. Gov’t Code § 573.002 
Tex. Gov’t Code § 573.041  
Tex. Loc. Gov’t Code § 171.002 
Tex. Loc. Gov’t Code § 171.004 
Tex. Penal Code §§ 1.07(41)(A), (E) 
Tex. Penal Code. § 36.01 
Tex. Penal Code § 36.02 
Tex. Penal Code § 36.07 
Tex. Penal Code §§ 36.08(d), (i) 
Tex. Penal Code §§ 36.10(a)-(b) 
Tex. Penal Code §§ 39.01(1)–(2) 
Tex. Penal Code § 39.02(a). 
Tex. Atty Gen. Op. OR 2006-03805 (2006). 
Tex. Atty. Gen. Op JC-184 (2000) 
  



10.0 COUNSEL 

Legal services shall generally be provided to TRWD under the direction of the General 
Counsel. This includes the coordination of external counsel, including external counsel 
selected or authorized by the Board to represent the District. 

The following sets forth the manner in which TRWD and its Board of Directors will utilize 
legal services from internal and external attorneys. 

10.1 Internal Counsel. The Board delegates to the General Manager the authority to 
hire and employ an attorney or attorneys for the District, through TRWD’s normal 
employee hiring process, to serve as the District’s in-house legal counsel and 
representative in matters requiring legal services. This in-house legal counsel may serve 
as the District’s General Counsel. 

Internal counsel shall report directly to the General Manager or designee and assist the 
Board upon request. 

10.2 Requests for Services from Internal Counsel. To coordinate and monitor the 
provision of legal services for the District, the Board delegates to the General Manager 
the ability to determine how to channel staff requests for legal advice from internal 
counsel. 

Board requests for specific legal research and/or formal opinions of internal counsel must 
be requested by the President, a majority of the Board, or a written request to the 
President by two or more Board members. Board requests for legal services from internal 
counsel should be directed to the General Manager to provide to internal counsel. 

10.3 Special Counsel to the Board. The Board may, by majority vote, retain Special 
Counsel to the Board, who may serve as the District’s General Counsel, to advise on 
legal matters affecting the Board. The Board may utilize Special Counsel to the Board, in 
lieu of or in addition to internal counsel, to provide representation and advice to the Board 
at Board meetings.  

The Board President is authorized to request Special Counsel to the Board to attend 
Board meetings or issue opinions. Special Counsel to the Board shall only be 
compensated for attending a Board meeting if their presence is requested in writing by 
the Board President.  

Special counsel to the Board shall be responsible and report directly to the Board as a 
whole. Although Special Counsel to the Board reports directly to the Board, the 
attorney(s) shall coordinate and work with the General Manager, internal counsel, and/or 
other TRWD staff as appropriate to coordinate and enhance the quality of legal services 
provided to the Board. 



10.4 Director Requests for Services from Special Counsel to the Board. Directors 
may make requests for legal services from Special Counsel to the Board in writing to the 
Board President. Upon receipt of an appropriate request for legal services from a Board 
member, the Board President may request that Special Counsel to the Board perform the 
service or issue the opinion. If the Board President receives an identical or substantially 
similar request for legal services from Special Counsel to the Board from two or more 
Directors, the request must be forwarded to Special Counsel to the Board for action within 
a reasonable timeframe. Opinions by Special Counsel to the Board not provided during a 
Board meeting shall be issued in writing and delivered to all Directors. 

10.5 External Counsel. Beginning at the latest January 1, 2022 and every three years 
after that, the Board, through the General Manager, shall publish a Request for 
Qualifications (“RFQ”) for all external counsel, which includes Special Counsel to the 
Board. The General Manager in consultation and coordination with the executive and 
leadership teams shall review all responses to the RFQ and present a list to the Board 
recommending the candidates deemed best qualified to provide external legal services 
to TRWD. The Board may adopt, reject, or amend the list of recommended external 
counsel. 

The General Manager or in-house counsel, in consultation with the General Manager, 
shall have the ability to retain external counsel for TRWD in legal matters based on the 
list of external counsel approved by the Board. 

External Counsel will report directly to the General Manager or in-house counsel, but is 
also responsible for reporting to the Board as requested. Special Counsel to the Board 
selected under the RFQ process shall report directly to the Board. 

10.6 Attorney-Client Privilege. Communication with all legal counsel, whether internal 
counsel, Special Counsel to the Board, or external counsel, is considered confidential if 
it is not intended to be disclosed to third persons other than those to whom the disclosure 
is made in furtherance of the rendition of professional legal services to the District and/or 
the Board or those reasonably necessary for the transmission of the communication. The 
attorney-client privilege belongs to the Board, as a whole, and the privilege may not be 
waived except by the Board, as a whole. Any unauthorized disclosure of an attorney-
client communication is strictly prohibited. 

 

  



11.0 AUDITORS AND AUDIT REPORTING 

11.1 Internal Auditor(s). TRWD shall employ an internal auditor who will oversee, 
facilitate, and assist with TRWD’s internal audit function. TRWD may also employ other 
audit personnel or independently contract with audit personnel to assist with TRWD’s 
internal audit function. 

To provide independence and objectivity in TRWD’s internal audit function, the internal 
auditor and any internal audit personnel shall report functionally to the Finance and Audit 
Committee and TRWD’s Board and administratively to the Deputy General Manager. The 
internal auditor will serve as the liaison between TRWD’s administration and the Finance 
and Audit Committee and Board with respect to the internal audit function. The internal 
auditor will cooperate with other departments or divisions within TRWD as necessary to 
effectively perform the duties and responsibilities of the internal auditor while maintaining 
the independence of the internal audit function. 

The Board may also approve and retain private auditors or a private auditing firm, for up 
to a five-year period, based on the recommendation of the Finance and Audit Committee 
and the internal auditor, to assist TRWD with its internal audit function. The private 
auditors or private auditing firm assisting with TRWD’s internal audit function shall 
cooperate with the internal auditor and any TRWD personnel, but shall report to the 
Finance and Audit Committee and the Board.  

11.2 External Auditor(s). External auditors shall be approved and retained by the 
Board with the recommendation of the Finance and Audit Committee and the Chief 
Financial Officer. The external auditor will cooperate with, but function independently of, 
TRWD’s executive management, the internal auditor, and TRWD staff. 

The Board shall select an external auditor for provision of audit services for up to a five-
year period.  

TRWD’s external audit examination shall be conducted in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards and shall include all funds over which the Board has direct 
or supervisory control. 

When a circumstance occurs in which the external auditors feel that information should 
be brought directly to the Board, this matter shall be communicated to the Finance and 
Audit Committee, who shall in turn inform the full Board. The members of the Finance 
and Audit Committee are obligated to report such opinions or findings directly to the 
Board. 

The auditors’ final report, which shall include a letter to management, shall be submitted 
directly to the Finance and Audit Committee and subsequently presented to the whole 
Board.  



11.3 Audited Financial Reports. TRWD’s audited financial reports shall be prepared 
in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles as defined by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board and presented in “Audits of State and Local 
Government Units” and “Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards.” 



Adopted XX/XX/2023 
Effective XX/XX/2023 

  

 

107.0  DISTRICT-OWNED FACILITY NAMING POLICY AND PROCESS 

107.1  Purpose. The purpose of this Policy is to establish criteria and processes 
for naming District-owned facilities.  

107.2  Scope. This policy applies to all District-owned facilities or any facility or 
infrastructure for which TRWD has been given or offered naming rights. 

107.3  Definition of Facility. For this policy, a “facility” means a place, building, 
installation, structure, amenity, or other improvement to real property. The term may also 
include specific features, fixtures, or appurtenances of real property, as well as a piece of 
equipment provided for a particular purpose. 

107.4  Naming Policy. Recommendations for naming District-owned facilities 
must be submitted to the TRWD Board of Directors for approval. If a recommendation is 
to name a facility after an individual, living or deceased, the recommendation should be 
based on the individual’s extraordinary contributions for the betterment of TRWD and its 
constituents.  

 

  

 



TARRANT REGIONAL WATER DISTRICT 
 

AGENDA ITEM 9 
 
DATE: November 14, 2023 
 
SUBJECT: Executive Session 
 
FUNDING: N/A 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Section 551.071 of the Texas Government Code, for Private Consultation with its Attorney 
about Pending or Contemplated Litigation or on a Matter in which the Duty of the Attorney 
to the Governmental Body under the Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct of 
the State Bar of Texas Clearly Conflicts with this Chapter; and 
 
Section 551.072 of the Texas Government Code to Deliberate the Purchase, Exchange, 
Lease or Value of Real Property; and 
 
Section 551.074 of the Texas Government Code Regarding Personnel Matters and 
General Manager Annual Evaluation 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 

• Pending litigation 

• Real property issues 

• Personnel matters 
 
Submitted By: 
 
Stephen Tatum 
General Counsel 



TARRANT REGIONAL WATER DISTRICT 

AGENDA ITEM 10 

DATE: November 14, 2023 
 
SUBJECT: Discuss and Consider Approval of General Manager Compensation 

Package for Remainder of 2023 and 2024 
 
FUNDING: Fiscal Year 2024 General Fund Budget 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
The Board of Directors may recommend and take action to change the General 
Manager’s compensation for the remainder of 2023 and 2024. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
Dan Buhman was hired as the General Manager of Tarrant Regional Water District 
effective July 1, 2021. On November 15, 2022, the Board of Directors completed his 
annual performance evaluation and changed his compensation package. 
 
In September 2023, the Board of Directors engaged Thompson & Horton, LLP to conduct 
the second annual performance evaluation of Dan Buhman. The performance evaluation 
is complete.   
 
The Board of Directors will consider and potentially recommend and approve changes to 
Dan Buhman’s compensation package for the remainder of 2023 and 2024, to be effective 
on his last November 2023 paycheck.   
 
Submitted By: 
 
Kathryn Long, Partner 
Thompson & Horton, LLP 
 
Stephen Tatum 
General Counsel 



 

Dan Buhman Fiscal Year 2024 Performance Goals 
 

Adopted in November 2023 (to be assessed in November 2024) 
Policy Committee Review November 7, 2023. Board of Directors Review November 14, 
2023. 
 
Invest in Our People  

 

• Establish program metrics for the Enterprise Safety program to ensure safety is 
our highest priority.  
 

• Complete at least 5 leadership development workshops for internal team of 
directors. 
 

Meet the Rapid Growth in our Communities 

 

• Complete negotiations on a reuse water supply contract with Trinity River 
Authority. 
 

• Complete a needs assessment for East Texas facilities.  
 

• Conservation: 
a. Analyze the data to quantify the benefits of a landscape ordinance and 

2x/week mandatory watering schedule. 
b. Propose a landscape ordinance template and weekly watering limitation 

template for customers to consider adopting.   
 

• Evaluate up to 3 additional trash collection strategies and implement 1.  
 

• Evaluate three technologies for lighting portions of the Trinity Trails and present 
results to the Board (including location, technology, cost). 
 

Central City Flood Control Project  

 

• Work with the Board of Directors, Trinity River Vision Authority Board, and 
community partners to chart TRVA’s future.  
 

• Develop future plans for the Central City Flood Control Program office in 
downtown Fort Worth. Update Board of Directors.   
 

Support Local Stakeholders in the Development of Panther Island  

 

• Develop a plan for the sale of TRWD’s real estate holdings on Panther Island 
and discuss that plan with the Board of Directors.  
 

• Draft the Canal Development Manual and review with Board of Directors.  



 

Further Enhance TRWD Fiscal Responsibility  

 

• Evaluate at least three federal or state grant/loan programs, primarily focused on 
TRWD’s water supply mission, for potential application submittal.  Submit at least 
one application. 
 

• Develop a multi-year funding plan to implement Recreation Master Plan 
recommendations.  

 
Improve Community Stewardship 

 

• Complete a public feedback survey.   
 

• Redefine TRWD’s recreation mission (with Board approval) and publicize new 
definition.  

 



TARRANT REGIONAL WATER DISTRICT 
 

AGENDA ITEM 11 
 

DATE: November 14, 2023 
 
SUBJECT: Consider Approval of Authorization to Acquire Real Property by 

Purchase for the Cedar Creek Wetland Project  
 
DISCUSSION: 

This agenda item is pending negotiations and is subject to review and approval by the 

TRWD Board of Directors.  

 



Next Scheduled Board Meeting 
 

December 12, 2023 at 9:00 AM 
 

 


	Agenda
	3. Minutes
	4. City of Fort Worth
	5. Robinson Taylor Industries
	6. Cassco Development Company
	7. Board Policies
	9. Executive Session
	10. General Manager Compensation Package
	11. Authorization to Acquire Real Property
	13. Next Board Meeting

